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Cagef: 1345085
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STEVEN B. WOLFSON
DISTRICT ATTORNEY
Janne Hanrahan :
Deputy District Attorney

Juvenile Division
601 North Pecos

(702) 455-5320

In the Matter of:

HEIDI BROWN

NIKKII BROWN

WYATT BROWN

Nevada Bar No. 9053

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

O b i

' EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

FAMILY DIVISION - JUVENILE
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

SAMANTHA LAWRENCE
Date of Birth: 07-06-1988
A Minor, 16 Years and 01 Month(s) of Age

H{ Date of Birth: 01-04-2004
A Minor 10 years, 07 Months of Age

Date of Birth: 01-04-2004
A Minor 10 years, 07 Months of Age

Date of Birth: 05-30-2009
A Minor 05 years, 02 Months of Age

|CONC G:

Father:
DOB:
Address:

COURT CASE NO.: J-14-319202-P2
DEPT. : FAMILY JUVENILE

D ITION REPORT

Date of Hearing:
Time of Hearing:
vCourtroom:
Attachment:

08-13-2014
02:00 PM
JUDGE GIULIANI
N/A

~ #22

DONALD BROWN (of HEIDI, NIKKI and WYATT)

03-09-1963

2127 BLUE ZENITH DRIVE
LAS VEGAS, NV 89119

Electronically Fllqd

08/08/2014 03:27:54 PM

N

CLERK OF THE COURT
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Mother: MELISSA LAWRENCE
DOB: 08-07-1980
Address: . 2129 BLUE ZENITH DRIVE

i} In December 2013, DONALD BROWN physically abused the subject minor -

LAS VEGAS, NV 89118

Siblings: SAMANTHA, HEIDI, NIKKI and WYATT are all placed together at St.
Jude's. The children have a paternal half sibling, David Brown, who is an adult that
resides in California.

his matter comes before the Court for a Report and Disposition Hearm. on charges o
abuse/neglect. The Honorable Hearing Master Femiano presided over the Plea Hearing
held on January 29, 2014, at which Ms. Lawrence and Mr. Brown were present with thel
privately retained counsel, Donn Prokopious. Mr. Prokopious entered a denial on behal

f both parents. The Chiliren's Attorney's Project (CAP) was assigned to the children,

anice Wolf was present on behalf of CAP to advise that assignment would be pending.

my Honodel was then assigned to SAMANTHA. Later, Michelle Hauser was assigned t
HEIDI, NIKKI and WYATT. The matter was set for trial for February 28, 2014, March 28,
2014 and April 3, 2014. The matter was repeatedly continued due to multiple issue
including the status of the criminal matter and the motion by CAP regarding whethe
SAMANTHA was a party to the case and would be present for the duration of the trial.
That motion was later denied and SAMANTHA was not permitted to be in the courtroom
o hear all testimony. Later, there was a motion for SAMANTHA to testify in the altemati
placed on calendar by the District Attorney at the recommendation of SAMANTHA'S|

erapist. The trial was set for a fim trial date of July 30, 2014. On that date, the trial -
proceeded in front of Justice Becker. After the state began with its case and a sho
recess, the parents returned and changed their plea to a No Contest plea to an Amende
Petition number 2. The Dispositional Hearing was set for August 13, 2014. Please b
advised that the Amended Petition 2 has not yet been filed as of the writing of this report.
It was agreed that as the children were removed in January 2014, this Dispositional
Hearing would also be considered the six month foster care review as well.

he Petition No. 2 - Amended in this matter cited:

(@) The mother is MELISSA LAWRENCE; the father to Samantha is UNKNOWN,; the
ather to Nikki, Heidi and Wyatt is DONALD BROWN,;

)  The subject minors resided with MELISSA LAWRENCE and DONALD BROWN at
he time of the alleged abuse or neglect, and both are persons responslblle for the welfare
the subject minors and regularly found In the home pursuant to NRS 432B.130;

(c) In December 2013, the subject minor Samantha was found to have injuries that
ere characterized as "definite abuse” by a physician specializing in child abuse; the
injuries included bruising and/or abrasions and/or loop marks and/or linear marks of
differing ages to her back; the injurles were such that they could not have occurred .
ithout a deliberate but unreasonable act or failure to act by the person or persons
responsible for the subject minor's welfare; see NRS 432B.450;

Samantha by hitting and/or striking and/or beating her with a belt and/or other object
and/or his hands, resulting In the injuries described above;
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®)  Over the course of the past six years, CPS was called to the home on muitiple
ccasions as a result of reports of injuries to Samantha.

(f) DONALD BROWN mentally injured the subject minor Samantha by causlng her to

{lexperience extreme fear, anxiety and emotional distress related to the ongoing physical

abuse;

(00 MELISSA LAWRENCE failad to protect Samantha despite her knowledge of the
ongoing physical abuse by DONALD BROWN;

(h)  MELISSA LAWRENCE mentally injured the subject minor Samantha by failing to
obtain counsellng and/or therapy for her to address the severe emotional distress caused
by the ongoing physical abuse by DONALD BROWN,;

()  The subject minors Heidi, Nikki and Wyatt are desmed to be unsafe in the home
ue to the ongoing abuse of Samantha pursuant to NRS 4328.330(1)(c).

() DONALD BROWN is presumed to be an unfit caregiver for the subject minors
ursuant to NRS 432B.555; DONALD BROWN was convicted of felony manslaughter
nd Corporal Punishment of a Child in relation to the death of his infant child in the
1980s;

k)  The subject minors are in need of protection in accordance with NRS 432B.330 as

. l|a resuit of the abuse/neglect described above.

WHEREABOUTS OF MINOR: .
Child(ren): Facllity 'f;‘nm;:;:f"'::{‘
SAMANTHA LAWRENCE - St. Jude's Ranch - Since 5-2-2014
HEIDI BROWN §t. Jude's Ranch Since 5-2-2014
NIKKI BROWN ' St. Jude’s Ranch . Since 5-2-2014
WYATT BROWN St. Jude’s Ranch Since 5-2-2014

PLACEMEN HISTORY
SAMANTHA was removed on January 8, 2014 and placed into foster care. Her siblings,

HEIDI, NIKKI and WYATT were later removed on January 19, 2014 and placed into
nother foster home. A foster home could not be located to place the children together.
he paternal uncle was reviewed as a placement and was denied. Additionally a fictive
in placement was reviewed and denied due to history and concern for protective

pacity. The children's adult sibling's wife, Alyshia Brown, came to Las Vegas and

oved into Ms. Lawrence and Mr. Brown's home and the parents moved out to allow for
he children to be placed with her. The children were placed with Alyshia Brown from
February 11, 2014 through April 4, 2014. The Department began to have concem for Ms.
Brown's protective capacity. The placement then disrupted with Ms. Brown advising she
as going fo leave the state again. The children were taken to Child Haven pending
oster care placement. Separate placements were identified for the children in order to
lace them off of the Child Haven Campus. Ongoing efforts were made fo identify a home
o take all of the children together. On May 2, 2014, the children were placed together at
t. Jude's Ranch into the same cottage. This is the placement where they remain today.
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Removal/

o Placement Release
Child(ren) Reason StartDate ", "  Facllity
SAMANTHA LAWRENCE Abuse/Re  1-8-2014 2-12-2014 Foster
“ moval from home
parents
|
Placement 2-12-2014 4-4-2014 Relative
with placement
relative ‘
Disrupted  4-4-2014  4-10-2014 Child
relative Haven
placement
Foster  4-10-2014 522014  Foster
home home
located
Placement 5-2-2014  Present St Jude’s
with :
siblings
HEIDI BROWN Removal 1-19-2014 2-12-2014 Foster
from home
parents '
Placement 2-122014 442014  Relative
with placement
relative
Disrupted 4-4-2014 4-13-2014 Child
relative Haven
placement
Foster 4-13-2014  5-2-2014 . Foster
home home
located
Placement 5-2-2014  Present St Jude’s
with . : :
siblings
NIKKI BROWN Removal 1-19-2014 2-12-2014 Foster
from home
parents
Placement 2-12-2014 4-4-2014 Relative
. .
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WYATT BROWN

WHO IS IN THE HOME?

21 ||Prior to the removal, the family was an intact family including Ms. Lawrence, Mr.-Brown
and all four children. It is reported that Alyshia Brown frequented the home, although this

22 |lhas not been confirmed. Mr. Browh is the father to HEIDI, NIKKI and WYATT. Mr. Brown

23 has been the father figure in SAMANTHA's life

hot SAMANTHA's biological father.

with
relative

Disrupted
refative
placement

Foster
home
located

Piacement
with -
siblings

-Removal
from
parents

Placement
with
- relative

Disrupted
relative
placement

Placement
with
siblings

, but is not married to Ms. Lawrence and is

placement

4.4-2014 4-13-2014 Child
Haven

4-13-2014  5-2-2014 Foster
home

5-2-2014 Present St Jude's

1192014 2122014  Foster
home

2-12-2014  4-4-2014  Relative
placement

4-42014 4-292014  Child
: Haven

d

4-20-2014  Present St Jude's

24 Client Case Role
Melissa Lawrence Mother
25 |l Donald Brown Father of HEIDI, NIKKI and WYATT
SAMANTHA LAWRENCE Child
26 | HEIDI BROWN A Child
27 NIKKI BROWN Child
Child

[
-]
—

! WYATT BROWN

SCHOOL.:
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" Schools listed are as of this fall for the 2014-2015 school year.

Childs Name: SAMANTHA LAWRENCE Grade:
11TH

School: BOULDER CITY HIGH SCHOOL
Special Educational Needs: None

- Grade: 8TH
Childs Name: HEIDI BROWN
School: Garrett Middie School
“ Special Educational Needs: None
' . : Grade:
Childs Name: NIKKI BROWN - 6TH
School: Garrett Middle School :
Special Educational Needs: None

Childs Name: WYATT BROWN . Grade: KIND
School: To be determined C
Special Educational Needs: None

SIBLING CONTACT:

|[X Placed Together — The children have an adult paternal half sibling, David Brown, who
Fasldes in California. Mr. Brown has not had any contact with the children since their

lacement at St. Jude’s. His wife, Alyshia, has contacted the Department; however Mr.
Brown has not contacted the Department to be assessed for appropriate cantact,

["] Not Placed Together—

{| PREVENTION/REUNIFICATION EFFORTS AND SERVICES:

1. Ms. Lawrence was referred to Red Rock Psychological for Non Offending Parenting
Classes. N '

2. Ms. Lawrence has been referred to the Parenting Project for parenting classes.

3. Mr. Brown has been referred to Red Rock Psycholegical for Physical Abuse classes.
4. Mr. Brown has been referred to parenting classes at the Parenting Project.

5. Visitation was initially arranged for Ms. L.awrence.

6. Phone visitation was Initially arranged for Mr. Brown.

7. The children were placed In their physical home with a relative, Alyshia Brown.

8. The paternal uncle was assessed as a relatlve placement. .

9. The Luisi's were assessad as a fictive kin placement.

10. The maternal grandmother was assessed as a placement and for appropriateness for
contact with the children.

11. Personal belongings have been raquested for the children.

12. SAMANTHA, HEIDI, NIKKI and WYATT have been referred to therapy through

6
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Healthy Minds. :
13. The Department has attended the criminal court hearings.
14. The children were placed together as a sibling group at St. Jude's campus.
15. Contact has been maintained with Mr. Brown and Ms. Lawrence regarding services.
16. Contact has been held with the children's sister-in-law regarding contact.
17. Contact has been held with the maternal grandfather regarding contact. .
18. Contact has been held with the paternal grandmother regarding contact.
19. Permission was requested for the children to travel to California.
20. Treatment team meetings were held for the children.

Is the children listed in report currently on any psychofropic medication?

No |

Hae a Court appointed a person to be legally responsible for the children’s psychiatric
services? | '

No-A referra! was made to the District Attorney tc appoint the Nurse Case
Manager as Parson Legally Responsible (PLR) for SAMANTHA, HEIDI and NIKKI in May
014. None of the children are on medication on this time; however the Department
beileves that ongoing psychiatric assessments may be necessary. As there is a no
ontact order in place, the Depariment would request that the Nurse Case Manager be
ppointed for the children. , '

hen was the children's last appointment? Not Applicable

hen will the children have an appointment? Not Applicable

UPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:

Currently, there is a No Contact order that was issued out of the criminal court
proceedings as to Ms. Lawrence and Mr. Brown. Prior to the No Contact order being in
place, the Department supervised contact between Mr. Brown and the children
elephonically. There are concems about the extremely negative beliefs and statements
hat Ms. Lawrence makes, specifically regarding SAMANTHA. These demonstrate a lack
protective capacity and could further exacerbate emotional distress for SAMANTHA.
- Lawrence has openly stated that she believes that the younger children, specifically
EIDI; hate SAMANTHA. There is concern that contact with the parents, once - '
unrestricted by the criminal court, should take place in a therapeutic context to ensure
at no further damage is done to the sibling bond and to ensure that SAMANTHA's
motional well-being is protected. This will also serve to prevent anyone from attempting
engage SAMANTHA in recanting her disclosure or encouraging the other children's
estimony in the criminal court matter. The therapist will then be able to decide when the
children are ready each independently, and as a whole to have contact with their parents.

he Department has had significant contact with friends and family members of the
hildren and parents regarding contact with the children. There has been a great deal of

7
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IThe parents have close personal friends, Paul and Antoinette Luisi, who requested

oncern for the intentions of each party in contacting the children and their beliefs and
ehaviors. The children have been in therapy at Healthy Minds and the therapists have
een consulted about the decision making regarding timing of contact with relatives and
ppropriateness,

he maternal grandmother met with the Department of Family Services in March 2014

nd became very upset during this interaction. The maternal grandmother stated that she
elieved that SAMANTHA was a "problem child" and had inflicted the injuries upon
herself. The maternal grandmother demonstrated ne concern for her grandchildren in this
interaction, but rather for Ms. Lawrence and Mr. Brown. The maternal grandmother had
contact with the Department again in July 2014. During this interaction again, the
maternal grandmother insisted that SAMANTHA was a difficult child, had injured herself
and stated that CPS was trying to "send two innocent people to prison.” When Supervisor
Richardson attempted to engage with the matemal grandmother that SAMANTHA had no
significant behaviors in the six months in care and no episodes of self-harm or

ggression, the maternal grandmother continued to state that she cared only to ensure
hat everyone "knew the truth." Supervisor Richardson attempted to discuss protective
capacity, that SAMANTHA was a child and that her emotional well-being was paramount.
t this time, the Department cannot recommend that visitation with the maternal
randmother begin. :

he paternal grandmother was spoken to early on in the case. She also indicated that

he believed that SAMANTHA was a "bad child” based on what Ms. Lawrence and Mr.
Brown had told her. The paternal grandmother advised that she did not want any contact
ith SAMANTHA, only with HEIDI, NIKKI and WYATT. When asked if she could keep her
pinions to herself, she was not able to ‘assuire that this was the case.

yshia Brown, the sister-in-law to the children, has had a couple of contacts with the
Department regarding contact since the disruption in placement. When it has been

iscussed that the therapist has advised that the cumrent timing is not good, Ms. Brown
has then later called the foster home and demanded to speak to the children stating that
he Department has given permission when she is aware that this was not the case.

placement at the beginning of the case: however they were denied due to background

nd concem for protective capacity. In May 2014, Mr. Luisi appeared at the St. Jude's
cottage, was taking pictures of the cottage, came in the front door and spoke to the foster
ather. Ms. Luisi began to call the cottage incessantly and demanded the foster mother
meet her with the children to exchange letters for Ms. Lawrence despite the no contact
order in criminal court. Supervisor Richardson spoke to Ms. Luisi and advised them that
heir behavior was harassing in nature and conceming. Ms. Luisi's behavior continued. St.
Jude's filed a police report with the Boulder City Police Department regarding the
harassing behavior. |

former teacher of HEIDI and NIKKI came to their school in May 2014 and waited
utside for them prior to the school day beginning. They were given letters from their
classmates, which also included the phone numbler for the teacher asking the children to
call. ‘

}

013



3 .

L - N Y - LY. T S TOR

Jlinvestigation ensued and SAMANTHA was found to have whip-like marks over her backi

he above two referenced incidents took place right after SAMANTHA gave a written

isclosure to the criminal court District Attoney. The Department has concern that many
parties in this case have not considered SAMANTHA's welfare and additionally, the
sibling relationship with the other children, in their attempts to make contact or ostracize
SAMANTHA.

The Department has spoken &t length with the maternal grandfather who resides in
exas. He has declined to provide the information needed to process an Interstate
Compact Placement of Children (ICPC) request to assess him as a placement, noting
hat he is consulting an attorney. During interactions, the maternal grandfather has kept
his opinions to himself, treated all four children equally and has not engaged in attempting
o discuss the case. As such, the matemal grandfather has been permitted once waeekly
upervised phone contact that is supervised by either the foster parent or the
Department. Currently, the contacts are going well and he has inquired about sending all
our children gifts.

Initially, SAMANTHA was removed and placed in foster care. Shortly after, her siblings

ere removed and placed info a separate foster home. The children's sister-in-law,

lyshia Brown, came from California and resided in the Lawrence/Brown home to care for,
he children. Ms. Lawrence and Mr. Brown moved out of the home and into a second
home of the Luisi's. This was verified and the placement moved forward. During the fime
of the placement, frequent home visitations were done to ensure that the parents were
not residing in the home. DFS began to be concerns about Ms. Brown's protective

apacity which were discussed with her. Ms. Brown advised that she migsed. her husband

nd it was hard fo be separated from him as he resided in California. She advised that

he was raising her.own child and now, SAMANTHA, HEIDI, NIKKI and WYATT, on her

wn and she did not want o do this anymore. Late March 2014, Ms. Brown advised that it
had become too much for her and she advised that she was going to return to California.

he children came to Child Haven and awaited placement. Initially, they were separated
and later a placement was secured for them together at St. Jude's. Since this time, Ms.
Brown has advised that she has not seen Ms. Lawrence since she stopped caring for the
children and indicated that there have been some family dynamics going on. She would
not elaborate any further. To date, her husband, David Brown, the children's sibling, has
not made contact with the Department to request sibling contact.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES/PROBL EMS IN THE HOME '

SAMANTHA LAWRENCE came to the attention of the Department of Family Services in
December 2013 after a report was recelved indicating that she had a black eye. An

nd side of her abdomen in addition to her black eye. SAMANTHA reportad she had hi
her face on a cabinet door and that her injuries on her abdomen were from a fali on
ampoline. Mr. Brown and Ms. Lawrence made similar statements. The stories given to
hild Protective Services appeared to be inconsistent with the injuries sustained by
AMANTHA. The case was staffed at CARES with Dr, Cefl who advised tha
SAMANTHA's injuries were fully consistent with child abuse, could not have been as a
result of a fall on a trampoline and had not been self-inflicted. SAMANTHA was removed
om the home. As the investigation continued, it was determined that HEIDI, NIKKI and
ATT were also unsafe and they were later removed from the care of Ms. Lawrence

9
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and Mr. Brown. There is a criminal matter in the process of prosecution regarding the
physical abuse SAMANTHA sustained. Ms. Lawrence and Mr. Brown are both out on
bond. The case has been bound up to District Court.

he family has a very significant history with Child Protective Services. This was the 7%
port of .physical abuse to SAMANTHA in a five year time frame. SAMANTHA has|
ustained injuries including bruises to her face and eyes, a broken tooth, stitches and
ruising to her abdomen. Injuries to the face and abdomen, along with repetitious injuries,
lead to a substantially higher risk of future harm. With each report, however, there was no
isclosure by any party. The collective reports demonstrate a consistent nature, despit
multiple reporting sources, all with the same victim and the same allegations. Each of th
reports show that there was no concern .shown for SAMANTHA's welfare by Ms.
Lawrence and Mr. Brown, but rather the inconvenience that the CPS investigations had
used them. During the below referenced reports, none of the reporting sources eve
ndicated any behavioral concerns for SAMANTHA. Each report noted that she performed
ell in school. The reports indicated that she was soclally awkward, and tended fo prefe
being around adults than children, but none of the reports indicated there were emotional
issues for SAMANTHA.

It should be noted that Mr. Brown has a conviction in California of Manslaughter an
orporal Punishment of a Child for the death of his child from several years ago. Eac
hotline report indicated that the reporting sources had significant concern fo
AMANTHA's welfare and that they had' attempted to address their concerns with Ms,
Lawrence. S -

In March 2008, a report was received that SAMANTHA had bruises to her face including
both eyes being blackened. During this report, the family indicated that the older child,
David, caused the injuries to SAMANTHA. During this report, SAMANTHA was observed
o have make-up on her face as applied by Ms. L.awrence to cover the bruising. She was
8-years-old at the time.

In November 2008, another report came-in that SAMANTHA again had bruising to her
ace. Again, SAMANTHA had make up on her face as applied by Ms. Lawrence. There
ere inconsistent stories provided about how SAMANTHA sustained the injuries. During
his case, the school had documented injuries that had been sustalned since the prior
incident that included finger shaped bruises and later a broken tooth. Each time,
SAMANTHA gave a different story about what happened to cause her injuries. During this|
report, SAMANTHA and her parents reported that a dog caused her injury.

In December 2009, a report was received that SAMANTHA sustained a deep cut to her

ist that she reported to the school had been caused by Mr. Brown throwing a butter
knife at her. When questioned about it, SAMANTHA changed her stery and stated that
he cut herself on a fence in the backyard. The reporting source stated that the story
ppeared to be "rehearsed”.

In February 2010, a report was received that SAMANTHA had a black eye and stitches to
her eyebrow. During this report, SAMANTHA advised she had been hit by a remote

10
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ntrol by a younger sibling. This report indicated that SAMANTHA told the reporting
ource that with her prior broken tooth documented by the school, Ms. Lawrence took het
0 get it fixed and had her lie to the dentist about how it had been broken.

in January 2011, a report was received that SAMANTHA had a 4-5 inch round bruise to
her abdomen and some marks under her eyes. SAMANTHA reported she fell out of bed.

In January 2012, a report was received that SAMANTHA had been withdrawn from
school and had not been re-enrolled or enrolled in home school. Concerns werel
xpressed' due the significant history of SAMATHA having unexplained injuries that the
chool had addressed with the parents and that she was now not in school.

In June 2014, SAMANTHA gave a full written disclosure naming Mr. Brown as the
rpetrator of the physical abuse against SAMANTHA. The disclosure was a detalled
lsclosure and 'SAMANTHA testified in the criminal court. SAMANTHA named the
previously referenced incidents and advised that she had been being abused since she|
8 3-years-old. ‘ -

Ms. Lawrence has made significantly negative statements about SAMANTHA which have
been observed including in her recorded calls while Mr. Brown was incarcerated on
charges of child abuse. Ms. Lawrence appears to have extremely negative views o

-[ISAMANTHA and believes that everyone around her does too. Ms. Lawrence has reported

hat HEIDI and NIKKI aiso "hate" SAMANTHA. Since placement of the children together,
here have been no concems about SAMANTHA's relationship with her siblings outside o
normal sibling rivalries. Ms. Lawrence and Mr. Brown have indicated that SAMANTHA |
everely emotionally disturbed. Despite this, Ms. Lawrence dnd Mr. Brown did not get
AMANTHA any therapy or emotional help. Both indicate that they attempted to get her
elp, but report that. therapists would not "take the case" because of CPS' prio
nvolvement. No records have been provided and names of providers where sewices'H
ere sought have not been received. Relatives have indicated that Ms. Lawrence and Mr.
Brown have told them that SAMANTHA Injured herself throughout the years. It should be
noted there have been no reports of any self-injuries since removal.

t this time, no party has admitted that SAMANTHA has been abused or neglected. Both
appear to continue to blame SAMANTHA. As such, no safety plan can be effective as no
safe party can be identified. Neither parent has taken responsibllity for their role in
SAMANTHA's injuries or the lack of ensuring she receive adequate care throughout the
ears. The injuries are so repetitious and continuous that they leave HEIDI, NIKKI and

YATT as rigk, as well, as there is no parent with sufficient protective capacity to
recognize the safety threat that is present in the home. The emotional well-being of the
children also needs considered as there are extremely negative beliefs abouﬁ
SAMANTHA that not only impact her, but impact her siblings who love her, as well.

It is recommended that Ms. Lawrence and Mr. Brown engage fully in their case plan to

ddress these safety concerns to provide a safe home for all four children to return to. Mr.
Brown and Ms. Lawrence have both been referred to the Parenting Project for Parenting
lasses. Ms. Lawrence was referred to Red Rock for Non Offending Parenting classes

11
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back in February 2014. In March 2014, she advised that she could not afford the classe
lthough she has a privately retained attorney and bonded herself out of jail. She late
as able to post Mr. Brown's $250,000 bond. She was again referred in June 2014 t
Red Rock Psychological. It is unknown if she has yet engaged.

Mr. Brown was referred to Red Rock Psychological. He was initially offered the referral i
February 2014. A short time later, Mr. Brown was arrested for Child Abuse and remain
In custody for several months. Mr. Brown was able to post his $250,000 bond and ,
released. Ho was re-referred to Red Rock Psychological again in late July 2014 for
physical abuse classes. If is unknown if he has yet engaged.

SAMANTHA, HEIDI, NIKKI and WYATT were reméved from Ms. Lawrence and Mr.
Brown due to physical abuse of SAMANTHA. The family has a history of 7 reports in five
ears that all have had SAMANTHA as a victim of physical abuse. Each time, the injuries
ustained by SAMANTHA - ‘were explained by an accidental injury or another sibling
using an injury to SAMANTHA. The school had significant concerns for SAMANTHA, for
everal years and documented their concerns. SAMANTHA sustained black eyes, bruises|
o her abdomen, stitches {o her face and a broken tooth. During this case, SAMANTHA|
had significant whip-like marks to her abdomen and a black eye. The story provided
edically inconsistent and Dr. Cetl advised that the explanation provided was m
edically plausible. Both hMs. Lawrence and Mr. Brown have been charged with Felony|
>hild Abuse and have a criminal court matter pending. Both are out .on bond at this tlmi-

waiting trial. Mr. Brown has a prior conviction of Manslaughter and Corporal Punishme
a Child due to committing the death of his child many years ago.

4

Ms. Lawrence and Mr. Brown have not acknowledged the physical abuse thaq
SAMANTHA has sustained. Qut of state relatives appear to believe what they have been
ld by the family for the last several years including that SAMANTHA is at fault for her
injurles. Ms. Lawrence and Mr. Brown have exiremely negative beliefs about SAMANTHA
at impacts her and her siblings.

Since the removal, SAMANTHA has made a disclosure that Mr. Brown perpetrated the
physical abuse of her throughout the years. She made this disclosure to several people
including the District Attorney, her therapist and other collaterals. SAMANTHA hasJ

iscussed the older reports and Indicated that they were not accidental injuries in the pas:
hat she sustained, but rather physical abuse perpetrated in her parent's home.

MANTHA, HEIDI, NIKKI and WYATT -are placed at St. Jude's together and are doing
ell. The foster parents are nurturing and consistent, providing the children with structure.

The maternal grandfather stated he was willing to be a placement resource, but will not
rovide the information needed to complete an ICPC. He is currently the only relative that
mas contact with the children.

12
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Lawrence. The Department would respectfully recommend that if that order is lifted, thaJ

It is recommended that the case plan for Mr. Brown include parenting, physical abuse,
meeting the children's needs, addressing hig legal matters and family therapy. It |
recommended that the case plan for Ms. Lawrence include parenting, non-offending
parenting classes, meeting the children's needs, addressing her legal matters and famil

he Department work with the children's therapist to discuss whether parental contact
et appropriate due to the parents' negative bsliefs of SAMANTHA and how that may
mpact all of the children.

herapy, as well. It Is important that Mr. Brown and Ms. Lawrence recognize that to mow
orward, they must acknowledge the safety threat and be able to demonstrate

llingness to protect against it.

'!

Submitted By: @ .

M. Tallent QpathedSHaterde
MARYTE TALLENT HEATHER RICHARDSON
PERMANENCY CASE MANAGER PERMANENCY SUPERVISOR

DATE: 8/8/2014

t

Hay servicios gratis de ayuda con otros idiamas. Para pedir un intérprete, Hame por favor &l Coordinador
. de Servigios de Intérpretes al 671-4578.

Free language assisiance services ave available. To request an interproter, please call the Language Assistance
T
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Location : All Courts  Images Help

REGISTER OF ACTIONS
Casi No. J-14-319202-P2

Lawrence, Melissa Dawn, Mother

§ Case Type: Juvenile Protection
§ Date Flled: 01/28/2014
§ Location: Family Juvenile
§ Cross-Reference Case  J318202
§ Numbér:
§ UNITY Case Number: 1346085
§
RELATED CASE INFORMATION
Related Cases
D-15-510944-R (Juvenile Related Cases)
PARTY INFORMATION
Lead Attorneys
Father Brown, Donald Donn W Prokopius
DOB; 03/15/1963 Retained
702-474-0500(W)
Juvenlle Brown, Heidi Renee Children’s Attorney
Subject DOB: 01/04/2004 Project
Minor Retained
Juvenile Brown, Nikki Rae Children's Attorney
Subject DOB: 01/04/2004 Project
Minor Retained
Juvenile Brown, Wyatt Carl Children's Attorney
Subject DOB: 07/15/2009 Project
Minor Retained
Juvenlle Lawrenge, Samantha Jay Children's Attorney
Subject DOB: 07/06/1998 Project
Minor Retained
Mother Lawrence, Melissa Dawn Michael |. Gowdey
) DOB: 08/07/1980 Retained
7024710321 (W)
State of - State of Nevada Steven B Wolfson
Nevada Retained
702-455-5320(W)

EVENTS & ORDERS OF THE COURT

07/30/2014 | Adjudicatory Trial (10:00 AM) {Judicial Officer Glutiani, Cynthia N.)
i Alternative Testimony

Minutes
07/30/2014 10:00 AM

- (Wyatt, Nikki and Heidi Brown; Samantha Lawrence)
Department of Family Services (DFS) represented by Heather
Richardson. COURT APPOINTED SPECIAL ADVQCATE
(CASA) represented by Carol Smith. Children's Attorney
Project (CAP) represented by Amy Honadel for Samantha and
Ms. Michelle Hauser for the Brown minors. Discussions
regarding another date for Trial due to timeframes. The Court
advised Trial will begin today. The State proceeded with Trial.

http://odyssey_.court.clarkcountycourts.org/CaseDetajl.aspx?CaseID=1 1277953&Hearingl...  6/29/2017
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Testimony and Exhibits (See Worksheets) Matter TRAILED for
Mr. Prokopius to discuss with the parents. Matter RECALLED-
all parties present as before, Mr. Prokopius advised the matter
has been negotiated and the parents are ready to enter a plea.
NEGOTIAIONS (MOTHER & FATHER): The State agreed to
file an amended Petition 2. Amendments stated on the record.
The State agrees that anything-divulged during the course of
any recommended treatment shall not be used against the
parents should any criminal charges exist or arise out of these
allsgatlons. Court ADVISED the parents of THEIR RIGHTS
who PLED NO CONTEST to the allegations that will be
outlined in the amended Petition 2 to be filed by the State.
Court ACCEPTED plea and ORDERED, mater set for Report
and Disposition. Court FURTHER-ORDERED, subject minors
DECLARED under the Court s jurisdiction as
Abused/Neglected Child{ren) and that legal custody is placed
with the Clark County Department of Family Services. Formal
supervision through the Department of Family Services. Matter
set for Review Hearing. Mr. Prokopius advised the minors have
a trip scheduled to Disney Land with the foster placement and
noted the parents are giving oral permissions to go on the trip.
Court ORDERED, the minors are approved to travel to
Californla for the Disney Land trip. CLERK'S NOTE: Minutes
amended to reflect that Judge Becker heard the matter.
9/13/2016 NT

Parties Present
Return to Register of Actions

hitp://odyssey.court.clarkcountycourts.org/CaseDetail .aspx?CaselD=11277953&Hearingl...
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Skip to Main Content Logout My Account Search Menu New Family Record Search Refine

Search Glose
REGISTER OF ACTIONS
Cask No. J-14-319202-P2

Location : All Courts Images Help

Lawrence, Melissa Dawn, Mother § Case Type: Juvenile Protection
: § Date Filed: 01/28/2014
§ ) Location: Family Juvenile
§ Cross-Reference Case J319202
§ Number:
§ UNITY Case Number: 1345085
§
RELATED CASE INFORMATION
Related Cases
D-15-510844-R (Juvenile Related Cases)
PARTY INFORMATION
Lead Attorneys
Father Brown, Donald Donn W Prokopius
DOB: 03/15/1863 Retained
702-474-0500(W)
Juvenile Brown, Heldi Renee Chiidren's Attorney
Subject DOB: 01/04/2004 Project
Minor Retained
Juvenile Brown, Nikki Rae Children's Attorney
Subject DOB: 01/04/2004 Project
Minor Retained
Juvenile Brown, Wyatt Carl Children's Attorney
Subject : DOB: 07/15/2009 Project
Minor Retained
Juvenile Lawrence, Samantha Jay Children's Aftorney
Subject DOB: 07/06/1998 Project
Minor } Retained
Mother Lawrence, Mellssa Dawn Michael I. Gowdey
DOB: 08/07/1980 Retained
7024710321(W)
State of State of Nevada Steven B Wolfson
Nevada . Retained
702-455-5320(W)

EVENTS & ORDERS OF THE COURT

08/13/2014 | Disposition Hearing (2:00 PM) (Judicial Officer Giuliani, Cynthia N.)
Parents

Minutes
08/13/2014 2:00 PM
- Matter heard with Review Hearing. (Wyatt, Nikki and Heidi
Brown; Samantha Lawrence) Department of Family Services
(DFS) represented by Maryte Talent. Children's Attorney
Project (CAP) represented by Ms. Amy Honodel and Ms.
Michelle Hauser. COURT APPOINTED SPECIAL ADVOCATE
(CASA) represented by Ms. Bonnie Mayes. Mr. Don Porkopius
expressed the parents do have finical limitations and
addressed the fees for the Red Rock Assessment. The State

http://odyssey.court.clarkcountycourts.org/CaseDetail.aspx ?CaseID=11277953&Hearingl...  6/29/2017
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noted the parents may be able to work out an agreement with
Red Rock for the fees. The Court reviewed the report and the
caseplans. Discussions regarding the No Contact Order from
the criminal matter and to what extent that is. Ms. Hauser
requested this Court make an Order to clarify what type of No
Contact Order I8 in place and if for all the minors. The State
noted the No Contact Order was confirmed through the
criminal matter and once the parents are involved in services,
they can address visits In a therapeutic manner. Court ’
ORDERED, subject minors DECLARED under the Court's
Jurisdiction as Abused/Neglected Child(ren) and that legal
custody Is placed with the Clark County Department of Family
Services. Formal supervision through the Department of Family
Services. Caseplan ACCEPTED and SUBMITTED. Parants
shall comply with the caseplans. Gourt FURTHER ORDERED,
the minors may write letters to the parents. Extended family
may have contact as long as they are appropriate and do not
discuss this matter with the minors. Matter set for Permanency
Planning Hearing.

Parties Present
Return to Register of Actions

http://odyssey.court.clarkcountycourts.org/CaseDetail.aspx?CaselD=11277953&HearingL...
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" by the Count.

Electronically Filed
11/07/2014 04.01:06 PM

MOT

STEVEN WOLFSON 5:5
DISTRICT ATTORNEY m b

FELICTA QUINLAN
Deputy Disteiet. Attorngy
Nevada State Bar No. 11699
601 N. Pocos Rd,, Bte. 470
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
{70?) 455-5320

CLERK OF THE COURT

- DISTRICT COURT
FX_&MELY DIVISION - JUVENILE
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA.
1o the Matter oft

SAMANTHA LAWRENCE
Date of Birth: 7-06-19908

HED] BROWN
Date-of Birth: 01-04-2004

NIKKI BROWN .
Date of Birth: 01-04.2004

WYATT RROWN
Date of Birth: 05-30-2009

CASE NO. J-14-319202-P2
DEPT.NO. K
COURTROOM 22

COMES NOW, the Clark Crmn_ty Department. of Family Services, (hereinafier “E.)It. .")’ by and

through Case Manager Maryte Tallent and the Clark County District Atiorney™s Office by and threngh
Distriet Attothey Steven Wolfson and Deputy Distriet Attordey, Felicia Quinlan, and hereby moves this
Horiorable Court for an Qrder finding that DFS §s not required 1o make reasonable efforts to penify the
above-named children with the binlogical parents, pursuant to NRS 4328.393. This Motion is based

upon the-following Points and Authorities and Affidavit, and any oral argument that may be requested

DATED thxsﬁj . day of November 2014.

STEVEN B, WOLFSON
Distriet Attorney -~
.\"'-?‘ N f o
«;t” AN Aok P 3
By:  Z A0S { St ey
FELICIA QUINLAN
Eeputy District Attoragy
Fuvenile Rivision

-1~
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TO: MELISSA LAWRENCE, natural mother
TO: DONALD BROWN, natural father

TO: DONN PROKOPIUS, counsel for natural parents
TO: MICHELLE HAUSER, counsel for the subject minors
YOU AND EACH OF YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that ihe undersigned will bring
the above-entitled Motion on for hearing before the Pamily Juvenile: Court, Courtroom 22, of the Bighth
Judicisl District Couirt, Family Division, 607 North Pecos, Las Vegas, Nevada on the, ,,,_:_Lmi_w__day of
DEC ..at2:39 am, orassoon thereafier as counsel may be heard.

DATED this "7 dey of November 2014,

STEVENB. WOLFSON

Distiict Attogoey
/,\‘? fat‘ ;’
Lo g A5

Y

By ., @%&:@e&» (3,:‘53{“ Andie
FELICIA QUINLAN.
Deputy District Attorey
Nevada State Bar No. 11690
601 N, Pecos Rd., St 470
Las Vepas, Nevada 89101
(702) 455-5320
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

L

STATE T OF FACTS

The natural mother of the subject minors, Samantha Lawrence and Heidi, Nikki, and Wyatt
Brown, is MELISSA LAWRENCE. The natural father of the subject minors, Heidi, Nikki, and Wyatt
Brown, is DONALD BROWN. The natural father of Samantha is unknown, as Ms, Lawrence has failed
to give his name or information to the Department of Family Services (DFS) or the Court.

This family has a significant history with Child Protective Services (CPS) and DFS.
Specifically, there have been seven reports of physical abuse to Samantha occurring in the home of Ms,
Lawrence and Mr. Brown in five years.

In March 2008, CPS received a report that Samantha had bruises to her face including both
eyes being blackened. During this report, the family indicated that the older child, David, caused the
injuries to Samantha. During this report, Samantha Ms. Lawrence applied make-up on Samantha’s face
to cover the bruising, which was observed by school staff. Samantha was 9-years-old at the time.

In November 2008, another report came in that Samantha again had bruising to her face. Again,
Samantha had make up on her face as applied by Ms. Lawrence. There were inconsistent stories
provided about how Samantha sustained the injuries. During this case, the school had documented
injuries that had been sustained since the prior incident that included finger shaped bruises and later a
broken tooth. Each time, Samantha gave a different story about what happened to cause her injuries.
During this re;iort, Samantha and her parents reported that a dog caused her injury.

In December 2009, CPS received a report that Samantha sustained a deep cut to her wrist that
she reported to the school had been caused by Mr. Brown throwing a butter knife at her. When
questioned about it, Samantha changed her story and stated that she cut herself on a fence in the

backyard,

027




W 00 9 N U B WM e

o e S T I T e T Y S U

In February 2010, CPS received a report that Samantha had a black eye and stitches to her
eyebrow. During this report, Samantha claimed she had been hit by a remote control by a younger
sibling. Samantha revealed that, when Ms. Lawrence took her to get her previously broken tooth fixed,
she had her lie to the dentist about how it had been broken.

In January 2011, CPS received yet another report that Samantha was injured in the home.. This
time Samantha had a 4-5 inch round bruise to her abdomen and some marks under her eyes. Samantha
reported she fell out of bed.

In January 2012, CPS received a report that Samantha been withdrawn from school and had not
been re-enrolled or enrolled in home school. The report revealed concerns regarding the significant
history of unexplained injuries to Samantha and that the school had addressed with these concerns with
the parents and that now she was not in school.

In December 2013, the most recent report regarding Samantha came into CPS. Samantha had
bruising to her back. This last report resulted in the instant case. In addition to the history of reports to
CPS, two separate petitions have been filed regarding this family.

Petition #1 was filed March 16, 2010 with the following allegations; The subject minors’
mother is MELISSA BROWN. The father of SAMANTHA is unknown. DONALD BROWN is the
father of HEIDI, NIKKI and WYATT; The subject minors resided with MELISSA BROWN and
DONALD BROWN at the time of the alleged abuse/neglect and MELISSA BROWN and DONALD
BROWN were people regularly found in the home with the subject minors for purposes of NRS
432B.130; The father of SAMANTHA is unknown, though as a parent he is responsible for her welfare
for purposes of NRS 432B.130; MELISSA BROWN and/or DONALD BROWN physically abused
and/or improperly disciplined and/or improperly supervised subject minor SAMANTHA resulting in
marks on SAMANTHA's face. Neither MELISSA nor DONALD provided a credible explanation as to
the source of SAMANTHAs injury. Furthermore, MELISSA reportedly used makeup to cover up the

marks on SAMANTHA before sending her to school. MELISSA BROWN and DONALD BROWN

-4
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have a history of CPS investigations regarding marks on SAMANTHA BROWN. The father of
SAMANTHA has not provided for her or had any contact with her for a period in excess of six (6)
months; MELISSA BROWN and/or DONALD BROWN neglected the subject minor(s)’ educational
needs by keeping the subject minor(s) out of school for a week at or around the time SAMANTHA had
a mark on her face, MELISSA BROWN and DONALD BROWN neglected the subject minors by
exposing them to the improper discipline and/or abuse of SAMANTHA, resulting in emotional harm to
the subject minors, DONALD BROWN is & registered felon for charges of corporal punishment of a
child and voluntary manslaughter. The subject minors are in need of protection as a result of the abuse
and/or neglect described above.

During this investigation, CPS placed the children with fictive kin with a safety plan in place for
supervised contact with the parents. See Exhibit 1. This safety plan marked the first time the children
were removed from their parents’ care. The petition in this case was eventually dismissed and the
children returned to the care of Mr. Brown and Ms. Lawrence.

On January 28, 2014, the second petition for this family was filed. The allegations, which were
substantiated as true when Mr. and Mrs. Salinas both entered no contest pleas were: The mother s
MELISSA LAWRENCE,; the father to Samantha is UNKNOWN; the father to Nikki, Heidi and Wyatt
is DONALD BROWN; The subject minors resided with MELISSA LAWRENCE and DONALD
BROWN at the time of the alleged abuse or neglect, and both are persons responsible for the welfare of
the subject minors and regularly found in the home pursuant to NRS 432B.130; In December 2013, the
subject minor Samantha was found to have injuries that were characterized as “definite abuse” by a
physician specializing in child abuse; the injuries included bruising and/or abrasions and/or loop marks
and/or linear marks of differing ages to her back; the injuries were such that they could not have
occurred without a deliberate but unreasonable act or failure to act by the person or persons responsible
for the subject minor’s welfare; see NRS 432B.450; In December 2013, DONALD BROWN physically

abused the subject minor Samantha by hitting and/or striking and/or beating her with a belt and/or other

5.
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object and/or his hands, resulting in the injuries described above; Over the course of the past six years,
CPS has been called to the home on multiple occasions as a result of reports of injuries to Samantha;
DONALD BROWN mentally injured the subject minor Samanthe by causing her to experience extreme
fear, anxiety and emotional distress related to the ongoing physical abuse; MELISSA LAWRENCE
failed to protect Samantha despite her knowledge of the ongoing physical abuse by DONALD
BROWN; MELISSA LAWRENCE mentally injured the subject minor Samantha by failing to obtain
counseling and/or therapy for her to address the severe emotional distress caused by the ongoing
physical abuse by DONALD BROWN; The subject minors Heidi, Nikki and Wyatt are deemed to be
unsafe in the home due to the ongoing abuse of Samantha pursuant to NRS 432B.330(1)(c). DONALD
BROWN is presumed to be an unfit caregiver for the subject minors pursuant to NRS 432B.555;
DONALD BROWN was convicted of felony manslaughter and Corporal Punishment of a Child in
relation to the death of his infant child in the 1980s; The subject minors are in need of protection in
accordance with NRS 432B.330 as a result of the abuse/neglect described above.

In June 2014, Samantha gave a full written disclosure naming Mr. Brown as the perpetrator of
the physical abuse she had suffered. In addition to the detailed disclosure, Samantha also testified in a
criminal proceeding related to the physical abuse she suffered at home. Samantha explained that
throughout the CPS reports laid out above, she was abused and had been abused since she was three
years old.

On July 30, 2014, at the firm trial setting, both Mr, Brown and Ms. Lawrence entered no contest
pleas to an amended petition as laid out above, On August 13, 2014, this Court took jurisdiction of the
children and adjudicated them abused or neglected children in need of prétection from the Court. The
Court accepted case plans for Ms. Lawrence and Mr. Brown and ordered them to comply with them.

It should be noted that Mr. Brown has a conviction in California of Manslaughter and Corporal
Punishment of a Child for the death of his child from several years ago. This conviction was included in

the allegations in Petition #2 to which Mr. Brown pled no contest.

-6-
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NRS 432B.393 delineates the procedures for the preservation and reunification of family and
child to prevent or eliminate the need for removal from home before placement in foster care, to make a
safe return to home possible, and to determine whether reasonable efforts have been made.

Specificaily, NRS 432B.393(2) states:

2. In determining the reasonable efforts required by subsection 1, the health and
safety of the child must be the paramount concern,

Moreover, NRS 432B.393(3) states:

3. An agency which provides child welfare services is not required to make the
reasonable efforts required by subsection 1 if the court finds that:

() A parent or other primary caretaker of the child has:

(1) Committed, aided or abetted in the commission of, or attempted, conspired or
solicited to commit murder or voluntary manslaughter;

(2) Caused the abuse or neglect of the child, or of another child of the parent or
primary caretaker, which resulted in substantial bodily harm to the abused or
neglected child;

(3) Caused the abuse or neglect of the child, a sibling of the child or another child in
the household, and the abuse or neglect was so extreme or repetitious as to
indicate that any plan to return the child to the home would result in an
unacceptable risk to the health or welfare of the child.

(d) The child or a sibling of the child was previously removed from the home,
adjudicated to have been abused or neglected, returned to the home and
subsequently removed from the home as a result of additional abuse or neglect;

DFS should not have to make reasonable efforts to reunify Mr. Brown and Ms. Lawrence with
the subject minors, Samantha Lawrence and Heidi, Nikki, and Wyatt Brown, because sections 3(a)(1-3)
and (3)(d) of NRS 432B.393(3) apply to the parents’ detriment.

First, as Mr. Brown acknowledged with his plea to Petition #2 in this matter, he has been
criminally convicted of felony manslaughter and Corporal Punishment of a Child. As such, aggravated
circumstances exist in this case so that DFS should not have to make reasonable efforts to reunify any
of the children with Mr. Brown.

Second, Mr. Brown has caused substantial bodily harm to Samantha, according to her written
disclosure. In addition, Ms. Lawrence either also caused that harm or neglected Samantha to the point

that substantial bodily harm resulted. Samantha has sustained injuries including bruises to her face and
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eyes, a broken tooth, stitches and bruising to her abdomen, Injuries to the face and abdomen, along with
repetitious injuries, lead to a substantially higher risk of future harm. Pursuant to NRS 0.060 substantial
bodily harm is defined as bodily injury which: (1) creates a substantial risk of death; or (2) causes
serious, permanent disfigurement; or (3) causes protracted loss or impairment of the function of any
bodily member or organ; or (4) causes prolonged pain. Samantha’s broken tooth, cuts requiring
stitches, and scars are permanent disfigurements, and these injuries, as well as her bruising, have caused
prolonged pain suffered by the child. All these injuries occurred in the family home of Mr. Brown and
Ms. Lawrence. The extent of Samantha’s injuries over the years is also aggravated circumstances such
that any plan to reunify the children would result in an unacceptable risk to their welfare. Accordingly,
DFS should not have to make reasonable efforts to reunify the family.

Third, the seven CPS reports over five years and two Court petitions reveal a pattern of extreme
and repetitious abuse. This pattern demonstrates a consistently abusive home environment, despite
multiple reporting sources, all with the same victim and the same allegations. Every incident report
includes evidence that there was no concern shown for Samantha's welfare by Ms. Lawrence and Mr,
Brown. Instead, the parents focused on the inconvenience the CPS investigations had caused them.
Samantha has been repeatedly bruised on and around her face and head throughout the years. In every
investigation, the parents have consistently been worried about themselves instead of Samantha,
including applying make-up to cover the bruising. Throughout this case, Ms. Lawrence has made
hurtful statements about Samantha and has claimed the other children hate her. This is extreme and
repetitive. This pattern of abuse is harmful to Samantha, Heidi, Nikki, and Wyatt and indicates that any
further efforts by the agency would be futile.

Fourth, the parents’ pattern of conduct has resulted in two petitions for abuse/neglect and two
removals of the children from their care. In February 2010, the parents signed a safety plan that that
Samantha would stay with fictive kin and have no contact with them. This was because of the injury to
her left eye. This removal was the first time the parents’ access to the children was restricted. Once the
investigation concluded, the family was reunified. Then, after another injury to Samantha in December
2013, the children have all been temoved from their parents’ care. They remain out of their parents’
care at this time. The situation with this family is consistent with the language and intent of NRS
432B.393(3)(d) and indicates that any plan of reunification is contrary to the best interests of the
children, '
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Based on the forepoing, DFS and the State respectfully request that the Court gramt this motion
and make o finding that DFS is not required o make reasonable effous to teunily Melissa Lawrence

and Donald Brown with the subject minors, Samantha Lawrence and Meidi, Nikki, and Wyat Brown.

STEVEN WOLFSON
Distriet Attorgey -~
A e & ;o :
By: | Jilezia z‘)&{{mxw
SFELICIA QUINLAN

Deputy Digtrict Adtoiney
Nevada State Bar No. 11690
601 N, Pecos Rd., Ste. 470
Las Vegas, Nevada 89107
(702) 4355320
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\RYTE TALLENT IN SUPPORT OF
IVE REASONABLE EFFORTS.

L MARYTE TALLENT, hereby swear (or affiom) under penalty of perjury, that the following

assertions mee tive of my own personal knoseled g

L Fam employed by the Clark County Department of Family Services-and am assized to the case

of Samantha Lavwsence and Heid, Nikki, and Wyatt Brown in the above-entitled matter.

p

The Depattment of Family Services requests that it not be required to make reasonable effouts o

reunify- Samantha Lawrence-and Heidi, Nikki, and Wyatt Brown with their parents, Melissa

Lawrence and Donald Brovn, based upor the exteemeé and repetitious abuse.of Samantha ~

specifically. that she has had nultiple injuries documented in seven CPS reports in five yours -~ as’

well as the fact that the children were previously renwoved from their parents’ ¢are in 2010, then

reunified, and subsequently removed again, Iy addition, Donald Brown and/or Malissa Lavrence

have abised of neglected Samantha resulting in substantial bodily harm and Denald Brown has

been convioted of manslaughier in relation to the death of his daaghier,

3. Lhave read the forgoing motion and all of the information asserted is ttue fo the bestof my

knowledge and understanding,
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EXHIBIT 1
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REGISTER OF ACTIONS
CasE NO. J-14-319202-P2

Lawrence, Melissa Dawn, Mother § Case Type: Juvenile Protection
§ Date Filed: 01/28/2014
§ Location: Famlly Juvenile
§ Cross-Reference Case J319202
§ Number:
§ UNITY Case Number: 1345085
§
RELATED CASE INFORMATION

Related Cases
D-16-510944-R (Juvenile Related Cases)

PARTY INFORMATION

Lead Attorneys
Father Brown, Donald Donn W Prokoplus
DOB: 03/15/1863 Retalned
702-474-0500(W)
Juvenile Brown, Heidl Renee Chilidren’s Attorney
Subject DOB: 01/04/2004 Project
Minor Retained
Juvenile Brown, Nikki Rae Children's Attorney
Subject DOB: 01/04/2004 Project
Minor Retained
Juvenile Brown, Wyatt Carl Children's Attorney
Subject DOB: 07/15/2009 Project
Minor ) Retalned
Juvenile Lawrence, Samantha Jay Children's Attorney
Subject DOB: 07/06/1998 Project
Minor Retained
Mother Lawrence, Molissa Dawn Michael I. Gowdey
DOB: 08/07/1980 . Retained
7024710321(W)
State of State of Nevada Steven B Wolfson
Nevada Retained
702-455-5320(W)

EVENTS & ORDERS OF THE COURT

12/12/2014 | Motion (9:30 AM) (Judicial Officer Giuliani, Cynthia N.)

1211212014, 01/14/2015

Motion for Finding that Aggravated Circumstances Exist Ulnder Which Reasonable Efforts Are Not Required Pursuant to NRS
432b.393(3)

Minutes
12/12/2014 9:30 AM
- (Samantha Lawrence; Heidi, Nikki and Wyatt Brown) )
Department of Family Services (DFS) represented by Maryte
Talent. Mr. Gregory Mills present as counsel for the maternal
grandparents. Children's Attorney Project represented by Amy
Honodel. Mr. Donn Prokopius requested a continuance due to
a conflict between the parents and the mother wishing to hire

http://odyssey.court.clarkcountycourts.org/CaseDetaiI.aspx?CaseID=1 1277953&Hearingl...  6/29/2017
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new counsel for herself, Ms. Michelle Hauser present on behalf
of the Brown children stated she is not opposed to a
continuance since she has not had recent contact with the
minors and would like to gather information as to thelr wishes.
The State requested the continuance bé with a month since the
minors have been out of care for a iong time. Mr. Mills stated
the minors have been out of care since August 2014. Mr.
Prokopius requested the parents be allowed to have visitation
since the foster parents are not allowing coritact. Discussions
regarding the father services and compliance. Ms. Talent noted
the minors are in counseling. Further discussions regarding
visitations. Court ORDERED, matter CONTINUED to January
14, 2015 @ 3:00 pm. The Department shall arrange a CFT to
address [ssues with visitations with parents. The therapist shall
assess the minors and report what the risks are in visiting the
parents. Court FURTHER ORDERED), Permanency Planning
Hearing is RESET to January 14, 2015 @ 3:00 pm.

01/14/2015 3:00 PM

- Matter heard with Permanency Planning HEaring. (Samantha
Lawrence; Held), Nikki and Wyatt Brown) Depariment of Family
Services (DFS) represented by Maryte Talent and Lisa Shaw.
Children's Attorney Project (CAP) represented by Amy
Honodel. Ms. Dawn Throne presant for Ms. Michelle Hauser on
behalf of the Brown minors. Mr. Gregory Mills present for the
maternal grandparents. Ms. Throne advised they have not
been served with the State's Motion and made an oral
objection, Further, the Brown minors wish to go home or at
least have visitation. The Department and the State have
admitted it was never their intentions to reunfy with the parents.
Ms. Michael Gowdy advised the Criminal Court is not in
possition to decide if there should be a No COntact Order and
therefore the Judge has passed that decicsion to this Court.
Mr. Gowdy provided the Court with the Order dissolving the No
Contact Order. The State noted the Order has been reinstated
and Is pending approval upon this Court's declslon as it
appears the Judge s reviweing the family case. The State
advised they have requested transcipts of the last criminal
hearing. Ms. Throne stated the minors are opposing to the No
Contact ORder. Ms. Honodel reported Samantha does not
wish to have contact with the parents. Ms. Shaw requested
there be line of sight supervised contact In the event the Court
is inclinsed to grant visitations. Further discussions regarding
providing reasonable efforts. Following discussions: Court
ORDERED, Motion is DENIED. All therapists shall provide a
report as to the recomendations of the minors having visits with
the parents. Line of Sight Supervised Visits are APPROVED
providing it does not affect the criminal matter and all is
appropriate. Further, the parents shall not discuss this matter
with the minors. Court FURTHER ORDERED, NO CONTACT
ORDER STANDS for Samantha Lawrence.

Parties Present
Return to Register of Actions

http://odyssey.court.clarkcountycourts.org/CaseDetail.aspx?CaselD=11277953&Hearing]...
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REGISTER OF ACTIONS
Case No. J-14-319202-P2

Lawrence, Melissa Dawn, Mother § Case Type: Juvenile Protection
§ Date Filed: 01/28/2014
§ lLocation: Family Juvenile
§ Cross-Reference Cass J319202
§ Number:
§ UNITY Case Number: 1345086
§ .
RELATED CASE INFORMATION
Related Cases
D-15-510944-R (Juvenile Related Cases)
PARTY INFORMATION
‘ Lead Attorneys
Father Brown, Donald Donn W Prokopius
DOB: 03/15/1963 Retained
702-474-0500(W)
Juvenile Brown, Heidi Renee Children's Attorney
Subject DOB: 01/04/2004 Project
Minor Retained
Juvenile Brown, Nikki Rae Children's Attorney
Subject DOB: 01/04/2004 Project
Minor Retained
Juvenile  Brown, Wyatt Carl Children's Attorney
Subject DOB: 07/15/2009 Project
Minor Retained
Juvenile Lawrence, Samantha Jay Children’s Attorney
- Subject DCB: 07/06/1998 Project
Minor Retained
Mother Lawrence, Melissa Dawn Michael 1. Gowdey
DOB: 08/07/1980 Retained
7024710321(W)
State of State of Nevada Steven B Wolfson
Nevada Reftained
702-455-5320(W)

EVENTS & ORDERS OF THE COURT

01/14/2015 | Permanency Planning Hearing (3:00 PM) (Judicial Officer Giullani, Cynthia N.)

Minutes
01/14/2015 3:00 PM

- Matter heard with Motion (Samantha Lawrence; Heidi, Nikki
and Wyatt Brown) Department of Family Services (DFS)
represented by Maryte Talent and Lisa Shaw. Children's
Attorney Project (CAP) represented by Amy Honadel. Ms.
Dawn Throne present for Ms. Michelle Hauser on behalf of the
Brown minors. Mr. Gregory Mills present for the maternal
grandparents. Ms. Throne advised they have not bean served
with the State’s Motion and made an oral objection. Further,
the Brown minors wish to go home or at least have visitation.

http://odyssey.court.clarkcountycourts.org/CaseDetail. aspx?CaselD=11277953& Hearingl...  6/30/2017
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The Department and the State have admitted it was never their
intentions to reunify with the parents. Ms. Michael Gowdy
advised the Criminal Court is not in position to decide if there
should be a No Contact Order and therefore the Judge has
passed that decision to this Court. Mr. Gowdy provided the
Court with the Order dissolving the No Contact Order. The
State noted the Order has been reinstated and Is pending
approval upon this Court's decision as it appears the Judge is
reviewing the family case. The State advised they have
requested transcripts of the last criminal hearing. Ms. Throne
stated the minors are opposing to the No Contact Order. Ms.
Hanodel reported Samantha does not wish to have contact
with the parents. Ms. Shaw requested there be line of sight
supervised contact in the event the Court is inclined to grant
visitations. Further discussions regarding providing reasonable
efforts. Following discussions: Court ORDERED, Motion is
DENIED. All theraplsts shall provide a report as to the
recommendations of the minors having visits with the parents.
Line of Sight Supervised Visits are APPROVED providing it
does not affect the criminal matter and all is approprlate.
Further, the parents shall not discuss this matter with the
minors. Court FURTHER ORDERED, NO CONTACT ORDER
STANDS for Samantha Lawrence. Discussions regarding the
permanency plan, Ms. Shaw reported the foster home Is an
adoptive resource. Further, thera is still a high risk with the
parents as they have not demonstrated behavioral changes.
Mr. Mills advised the paternal grandparents are also an
adoptive resource for all the minors and requested an
Regulation (7) ICPC to the relatives. Court FINDS compelling
reasons DO NOT exist and therefore Court ORDERED,
permanency plan shall be Termination of Parental Rights and
Adoption based on the circumstances. Subject minors
CONTINUED under the Court's jurisdiction. Formal Supervision
through the Department of Family Services. Reasonable efforts
have been made. Placement to remain the same. The
Department shall submit a Regulation (7) ICPC. Matter set for
Review Hearing. Ms. Throne MOVED to WITHDRAW as
counsel for the Brown minors due to conflict with the State.
Court ORDERED, Motion to WITHDRAW is GRANTED. Matter
REFERRED to the Pro Bono Attorney.

01/21/2015 3:00 PM

Parties Present
Return to Register of Actions

http://odyssey.court.clarkcountycourts.org/CaseDetail.aspx?CaselD=11277953& Hearingl...
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Page 74

Okay, State, call your next witness.
MS. BLUTH: Dr. Sandra Cetl.

THE MARSHAL: Sandra?

MS. BLUTH: Cetl, C-E~T-L.

THE MARSHAL: Okay.

(Off the record discussion not reported.)

DR. SANDRA CETL,
having been first duly sworn to tell the truth, the whole
truth and nothing but the truth, testified and said as

follows:

THE CLERK: Please be seated.

State your name and spell it for the
record.

THE WITNESS: My name is Dr. Sandra,
S$-A-N-D-R-A, Cetl, C-E-T-L.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. BLUTH: Thank you.

DIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MS. BLUTH:
Q Good morning, Dr. Cetl.

A Good morning.

PATSY K, SMITH, OFFICIAL COURT REPCRTER
(702) 671-3795
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Q How are you employed?

A I work through Sunrise Children's Hospital
and the Southern Nevada Child Assessment Center as a
pediatrician that evaluates concerns of child physical
abuse, child sexual abuse, and, in addition, I take a shift
as an ER physician at Sunrise Children's Hospital in the
Pediatric of Emergency Department.

Q Thank you.

Can you give a description of the
education and training that you went through in order to
obtain that position, please.

THE COURT: She's testified in here
before. Are you willing to stipulate to her credentials ox
do you want her to go through it, if you want to, but she's
testified in here before as an expert?

MS. HOJJAT: Just to clarify, she's an
expert in precisely what area?

THE COURT: Child abuse.

MS., BLUTH: She's a physician and she
specializes in child abuse diagnosis. It's all up to you.
You can cross her or if you want to stipulate, whatever you
would like.

MS. HOJJAT: No, that's fine.

THE CQURT: You weren't here before, but

she has been here recently testifying.

PATSY K, SMITH, OFFICIAL COURT REPORTER
(702) 671-3795
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MS. HOJJAT: ©No, that's fine.

THE COURT: If you want to go through it,
we'can. If not --

MS. HOJJAT: My only thing would be I did
have guestions about her report on child abuse, neglect and
also child sex. If she is qualified in all those things,

I'm fine with that.

(Off the record discussion not reported.)

THE CQURT: She's testified in here about
child abuse and neglect cases.
MS. HOJJAT:  That's fine, T will
stipulate.
THE COURT: Okay.
Q (BY MS. BLUTH) So let's just go right to
January 9th, 2014, were you asked to do what's called staff
a case with Detective Emery on that day?
A Yes.
Q Was the subject you were staffing over a
child by the name of Samantha Lawrence?
A Yes.
Q Okay.
And I'd like to start with the face, were

you shown pictures of the child's face?

PATSY K. SMITH, OFFICIAL COURT REPQRTER
(702) 671-3795
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A Yes, I did.
Q And I'm showing you what has already been
put into evidence as State's 2, is that the injury you saw

on the child's face?

A Yes, it is,

Q And that would be the child's left eye,
correct?

A Correct,

0 And did the child have any other injuries

on her face?

A Yes. She had a fading bruise on her right
eye as well.

Q Okay.

Now, as part of when you staff a case,
what information, if any, is given to you in order for you
to kind of partake in the staffing, give opinions, et
cetera?

A So, first of all, injuries are very
important. In order to see any injuries or concerns that
there are, any medical records that are pertinent and then,
additionally, a history of how an injury may have occurred.

Qo Okay.

So now were you given a story or more than
one story in regards to how the child sustained the injury

to the darker of the two eyes?

PATSY K. SMITH, OFFICIAL COURT REPORTER
(702) 671-3795
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A Yes.
Q What story were you given?
A The initial history I was given was that

the patient or Samantha was at a cabinet in the kitchen and
had opened the cabinet into her eye and then the second
history I received was that cabinet was slightly open, same
cabinet, but she had, from kind of a crouching position,
had stood up and that the corner of that opened cabinet had
hit her in the eye.

Q Okay.

50 let's start with the first story, which
would be that she pulled the cabinet open to her eye and
caused the injury.

A Uh~huh.
Q Would you find that story consistent with

the injuries you were seeing?

A No.
Q And why not?
A Because when standing at that level,

pulling something towards the face, people will move and
not use that amount of force that would cause this kind of
bruising and so I found that to be very inconsistent with
what the injuries show.

Q Okay.

The second story you were given was that

PATSY K. SMITH, OFFICIAL COURT REPORTER
(702) 671-3795
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the child stood up and that the cupboard was partially left
open, so0 she stood up into the corner. Did you find that
to be consistent with the injuries you were seeing?

A I thought it could be possible, you know,
unlikely, but it was a possibility because she may not have
seen the cabinet door coming or open.

0 Okay.

Now there was just a bruising to the eye,

right? There was no like laceration or anything?

A That is correct.
Q Now if someone were to stand up into, you
know, a cabinet and cut -- and catch the edge of that,

would it be possible they would split their eye open if
they stood up with enough force?

A It's possible.

Q Okay.

Now I'd like to ask you some questions.
You were shown photos from Detective Emery of the child's
back; is that correct?

A That is correct.

Q I'm showing you what's already in evidence
as 3, 4, 5, and if you need to refer to any of those to
answer any of my questions, please just let me know.

A Okay.

Q Now when you saw these pictures -- let's

PATSY K. SMITH, OFFICIAL COURT REPORTER
(702) 671-3795
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talk about the number of injuries. Could you count them by
looking at the photos?

A They were too numerous to count,

Q Ckay.

Did they have any -- well, let me just
kind of ask a broad, open question.

When you saw the pictures, what did you
see?

A So I saw multiple injuries. They were
consistent with a recognizable pattern of a loop injury.
So there were loop marks, as well as straight marks
indicating some type of blunt force trauma with an
implement.

The implement typically that leaves loop
marks are either a cord, like a cord that's taken or some
kind of belt and so I found this very concerning.

I also noted that some of them were
already quite advanced healing and some were very fresh, I
guess, and newer. S0 it appeared they were in different
stages of healing, which is of another concern, and that
they had multiple directions and kind of all over the small
of her back.

Q So they were in different planes of the
back?

A Yes.

PATSY K. SMITH, OFFICIAL COURT REPORTER
(702) 671-3795
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Q So when something is done -- when
something is in different directions, so, for instance,
like you would ~-~ let just say it was a belt, so you would
have one belt mark, you know, going up the back diagonal
and then another one going down, you knew this was done
over and over again. Would that be fair?

A Correct, yes.

0 Now were you given possible stories of how
the child sustained these injuries?

A Yes. My understanding is that she had
indicated to, I believe, an interviewer that she was
climbing like a backyard fence of some sort and that she
had fallen onto the springs of a trampoline that was in the
backyard and I had seen pictures of the trampoline and
scale,

Q Did you find any of those to be consistent

with the injuries you were seeing?

A Absolutely not.
Q Why not?
A Again, recognizing the pattern loop marks

inflicted the injuries. They are in all different
directions. They don't fit the scale, the shape or the
pattern of the springs.

Again, it's not a very typical injury.

There are different stages of healing, different

PATSY K. SMITH, OFFICIAL COURT REPORTER
(702) 671-3795
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directions. There is just nothing compatible with the
injuries that we could see on her back.

Q Were you given any other stories how the
child sustained the injuries to the back?

A I believe I was asked if I thought it was
self-inflicted, which, again, was inconsistent with the
ambunt of force that it would take to do something like
this, in addition to the patterning.

Q Okay.

Now you have stated that you also see

children, you know, for treatment in the ER -~

A Yep.

Q -- at Sunrise Children's Hospital?

A Yes.

0 So let's discuss if the child had been

brought to you with these type of injuries, what type of
treatment, while at the hosgpital or for home care, could
you have provided that child?

A Well, with any types of lacerations or
breaks in the skin and bruising, one priority would be pain
control. So controlling pain with pain medication and/or
possibly narcotic medication, like Tylenol with codeine or
something like that, and I would also write a prescription
for home because it's an area where she would have to sit

and have contact, things like that, so pain control.

PATSY K. SMITH, OFFICIAL COURT REPORTER
(702) 671-3795
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I do have a concern about the infection
risk as well due to the breakages in the skin.

MS. HOJJAT: Judge, can we object as to
speculation. I don't believe there is any testimony that
there was evidence of breakage of the skin. I think the
testimony was the opposite, there was no breakage of skin.

MS. BLUTH: I think she's discussing what
she would have done in a situation where the child was
brought in.

M5. HOJJAT: She specifically said
breakage of the skin on this photograph.

MS. BLUTH: Well, I think it's up to her
to opine. You can clearly see on State's 5, I mean it
looks like, to me, like the skin is broken. I know what
the child said earlier, but --

MS. HOJJAT: 1I'd like some foundation for
why, where the breakage of the skin is coming from. Was
there an actual physical observation? Did she see the
person in person? Did she see the breakage of skin?

MS. BLUTH: I'm sure she is entitled to
ask those questions on cross-examination.

THE WITNESS:; Thank you.

THE COURT: Why don't you ask them now.
Why don't you lay a foundation.

Q (BY MS. BLUTH) You did not see the child?

PATSY K. SMITH, OFFICIAL COURT REPORTER
(702) 671-3795
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No.
You saw photos?

Correct.

o ¥ 0 W

And the photos are up there.
And you were discussing earlier the
important images?

A Yes.

0 I want to talk to you -- I know you did
briefly, but refresh our recollection, please.

A To be able to see not just the extent of
the injuries or any kind of marks or whatever it is that
we're looking at, also to see possible scaring, scale,
sizes, things like that. 1It's very important to get an
accurate look in lieu of an examination.

0 Okay.

Now in looking at these photos,

definitively you can say that they were of different ages?

A Yes.

Q And you can say that they are on different
planes?

A Yes,

Q Going opposite directions?

A Yes.

Q Different -- did I say already different

stages of healing?

PATSY K. SMITH, OFFICIAL COURT REPORTER
(702) 671-3795
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Yes.

And that they are patterned?
Yes.

Linear and looped?

Yes,

(O IR ol 2 = -

Now, in those photos, did it look as
though the skin had broken any parts?

A It appeared it could be, but I guess the
skin is disrupted any time there is bruising or any marks
or redness, things like that. That means there is some
kind of disruption of the skin. So maybe not an averted
open cut in the skin, but a disruption in the skin, yes.

Q When a child presents to the emergency
room at Sunrise Children's Hospital where you work with,
you know, an injury like this and the skin had been
disrupted, how would you treat that?

A S50 pain control, as I mentioned, also
infection control. Depending if and, again, not
necessarily in this situation, but it depends on the
vaccinations the child has, tetanus is sometimes updated
for that, and then just generalized skin care to optimize
the healing.

Q You have talked a little bit about these,
these are in an area, you know, that would ~- I don't know

if you would say that could cause pain because when it

PATSY K. SMITH, OFFICIAL COURT REPORTER
(702) ©671-3795
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comes in contact with other areas. Explain a little bit
more about that.

A Yep, we have clothing over those areas,
then when sitting on the small of the back and the back
does make contact with furniture, also, you know, all
movements that we do moving the back and that skin would be
kind of moving back and forth and that could cause further
pain from the bruising and the iﬁjury.

0] Okay.

Did you have an opinion, in regards to
specifically, you know, these injuries, how they were
caused?

A That they were inflicted, abusive trauma.

(Off the record discussion not reported.)

MS. BLUTH: Thank you, Dr. Cetl.
I have no further questions. I will pass
the witness.
THE COURT: Ms. Hojjat.
M3. HOJJAT: Yes, your Honor.
/17
/17
/17
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BY MS. HOJJAT:

(O o

correct?

Q

Page 87

CROSS-EXAMINATION

Good morning, Dr. Cetl.
Good morning.

How are you doing?
Fine. Thank you.

You've never seen the back of this person,

That is correct, I have not.

You are only looking at the photographs

that's been entered as a State's Exhibit?

A

Q

A

Q

Yes.

Okay.

You never had the opportunity to touch it?
No, ma'am.

You never had the opportunity to

personally observe it?

a

Q

No.

You never had the opportunity to do any

sort of medical testing on it?

A

I would do, but,

that.

I'm not sure what kind of medical testing

no, I didn't have an opportunity to do

M5. HOJJAT: Permission to approach, your

Honor, to grab the exhibits?

PATSY K. SMITH, OFFICIAL COURT REPCORTER

(702) 671-3795

055




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Page B8

THE COURT: Sure.
MS. HOJJAT: Thank you.

Thank you very much.

Q Showing you what's been marked as State's
Exhibit 5.

A Yes.

Q What we can see definitively in this

photograph is bruising?

A Yes.

Q And we can see redness?

A Yes.

Q You don't see any blood in this
photograph?

A Bruising is a form of bleeding.

0 Okay.

A So I don't see, I guess, red blood

spurting out of anything, no.

Q You don't see any open lesions on that
back?

A It's a little hard to tell. I'm wondering
about this one right here in the middle, but it's difficult
to tell in the photo on that one,

Q Qkay.

So looking at this, it would be purely

speculation to say you are seeing anything other than

PATSY K. SMITH, OFFICIAL COURT REPORTER
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bruising or redness?

A

Q

Right.

Now you talked about looping that you are

observing in these photographs?

A

Q

thereafter?
A
Q
A
Q

experience.

Yes.

Looping is a professional term, correct?
I suppose, yeah,

You went to medical school?

Yes.

You have medical training?

Yes.

How long is medical school?

Four years.

Then I'm assuming you did a residency

Uh-huh, yes.
How long is that?
Three vyears.

So fair to say you have quite a bit of

That's why you are qualified to sit up here

today and talk about looping?

a

Q

right?

Yes.

Average people don't go to med school,

Right.

PAT3Y K. SMITH, OFFICIAL COURT REPCRTER
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0 People who aren't doctors don't
necessarily deal with the term looping?

A Correct. |

Q In fact, it probably wouldn't surprise you
that the average layperson, until you explain looping to
them, might not even understand what looping is?

A True.

Q So because you are a professional, when
you see looping, you recognize it as a sign of abuse,
correct?

A As a potential sign of abuse, yes.

o) As a potential sign of abuse.

And, in fact, you were interviewed by
police in this case, correct?

a Yes.

Q The police had to bring these photographs
to you for you to look at them and say, I'm observing
looping, I'm observing potential signs of abuse?

A Correct.

Q You were the one who had to make that
call. The police couldn't, on their own, just look at the
photograph and say, Oh, there's looping, this is abuse?

MS. BLUTH: Objection as speculation as to
what the police can do.

THE COURT: All right, that will be

PATSY K. SMITH, OFFICIAL COURT REPORTER
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sustained.
Q (BY MS. HOJJAT) Now you have talked
about --

MS. HOJJAT: Court's indulgence.

(Off the record discussion not reported.)

Q (BY MS. HOJJAT) It doesn't surprise you
that the police needed to come to you to look at the
photographs and give them a medical opinion?

A When it comes to child abuse, I think the
forefront of how we want to diagnosis is a complete
evaluation with a multi-disciplinary team and so if there
are any concerns, it is something that we all discuss as a
team, whether it's in a group meeting or staffing or
something like that, and so it's just a part of my
medical -- my practice.

0 So you were the one who made the call that
this was potential child abuse?

A Yes.

Q You were the one who made the call that
this was looping, potential looping?

A That is how I described it when I saw it.
I don't know if I was the only one, but...

Q Now you talked about treating --

PATSY K. SMITH, OFFICIAL COURT REPORTER
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potentially treating these injuries with things for
infection control?
A Yes.
Q Okay.
So ig it your testimony that any time a

child is brought to you with a bruise, you give them

antibiotics?
A Not every single time, no.
Q Okay.
And you talked about potential pain
control?
A Yes,
Q So it's your testimony that every time a

child is brought to you with a bruise, you give them pain
meds?

A With extensive bruising and depending on
the patients, as well as their tolerance, but something
this extensive, ves, this would require pain medication.

Q But not every bruise requires that pain

medication, correct?

A No.

Q Again, you are a medical professional,
correct?

A Yes,

Q S50 looking at that and seeing this level

PATSY K. SMITH, OFFICIAL CQOURT REPORTER
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of bruising requires pain medication, correct?
a I suppose, yes.
0 But it wouldn't surprise you to hear when
a lot of parents see a bruise, they don't necessarily rush
their kids to the ER for a bruise?
MS. BLUTH: Objection, relevance.
MS. HOJJAT: Your Honor, that's the exact
same questions the State asked.

THE COURT: You can ask them.

0 (BY MS. HOJJAT) So it wouldn't surprise
you if a lot of parents, when they see bruising, don't rush
their kids to the ER?

A I would qualify what bruising, what extent
it is. It wouldn't surprise me with minor bruising, no.

Q Okay.

And you are a doctor who treats patients,
you see patients, you treat them, you diagnose them, things
like that?

A I do.

Q Are vou in the habit of diagnosing people
without ever having seen this person or coming to you in
person?

A When it comes to the visualization of

injuries, if there is photographs or something like that,

PATSY K. SMITH, OFFICIAL COURT REPORTER
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then, yes, I do staffings in that case.

Q Okay.

So you give medical opinions and diagnoses
of people without ever talking to them, seeing the injury
in person --

A Yes.

Q -- having any opportunity to manipulate
the injury?

MS. BLUTH: Judge, I object to diagnose
people. I don't know if that's diagnose with medication,
opine on injuries. I'm a little unclear on the word
diagnose.

THE COURT: Counsel.

MS. HOJJAT: I will rephrase.

Q You make it a habit of looking at injuries
and diagnosing the cause and the necessary treatments
without actually seeing the person, manipulating the
injury, having the opportunity to observe it in person?

A I do observe mechanisms of injuries, but I
do not -- if I have not seen the child myself, I will not
prescribe medications. I may prescribe X-rays or further
radiclogy or maybe have them go see their medical provider
if any tests or anything else needs to be run, but I do
diagnose.

Q So do you make medical conclusions without

PATSY K. SMITH, OFFICIAL COURT REPORTER
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ever having seen a patient?

A On occasion, yes.
(Off the record discussion not reported.)

MS. HOJJAT: 1I'll pass the witness, vyour
Honor.

THE COURT: Okay.

Any redirect?

MS. BLUTH: Just one.

REDIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MS. BLUTH: |
0] Would it be concerning to you if a parent
in the home did see those injuries that you mentioned in

those photographs and did not get the child treatment?

A Yes.
Q Very?
A That would be wvery concerning, ves.

MS. HOJJAT: I do have a question based on
that, your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. I don't want to play
ping pong in this case all day. So if you want to ask
that --

MS. HOJJAT: No.

PATSY K. SMITH, OFFICIAL COURT REPORTER
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THE COURT: -- that's fine.
MS. HOJJAT: I think it opened the line of

questioning.

RECROSS EXAMINATION
BY MS. HOJJAT:
Q You also deal with child sex cases,
correct?

MS. BLUTH: Objection, beyond the scope.
T asked if it would be concerning as to these photos.

MS. HOJJAT: Your Honor, I'm going to
object. I need to lay a little foundation. It's directly
related to the question the State asked.

THE COURT: Child sex abuse, how is that
relevant?

MS., HOJJAT: Well, the next question is
when a child does have sex injuries and they are not
brought in.

MS. BLUTH: What?

THE COURT: How is it relevant to this?

MS. HOJJAT: Pretty comparable. Injuries
in a place visually not seen, that's not openly seen, is it
concerning, I think that's a completely valid question.

THE COURT: They are not comparable. I

don't find them to be comparable, So if you have a

PATSY K. SMITH, OFFICIAL COURT REPORTER
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question about what she asked, you can ask, but in terms of
sexual assault cases, no,

So if you have something related to what
she said, you are welcome to ask that.

MS. HOJJAT: Court's indulgence.

(Off the record discussion not reported.)

Q (BY MS. HOJJAT) These injuries are
located in the lower back, correct?

A Correct.

0 So you said it would be concerning if the
parent saw the injuries and didn't bring the child in for
treatment?

A Yes.

Q But that's predicated on the parent seeing
the injuries, cozrrect?

A Seeing, ves, and also if there are any
changes in walking or notations of pain or anything like
that. If that was noticed, then it would be concerning.

0 But you are purely speculating on the
notations of walking and things like that occurred in this
case?

A Yes.

0 Okay.

PATSY K. SMITH, OFFICIAL COURT REPORTER
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(Off the record discussion not reported.)

MS. HOJJAT: 1I'll pass the witness.

MS. BLUTH: Nothing further, Judge.

THE COURT: Okay, doctor, thank you for
testifying here today. You are free to stick around to
find out what happens. You are free to take off at this
point.

THE WITNESS: Thank you very much.

THE COURT: Before we go on, we have been
going on awhile, I have got to give my court reporter a
break so she doesn't get Carpal Tunnel Syndrome.

MS. BLUTH: That's fine.

THE COURT: We will give her a break and
give her a couple minutes to rest, then we will come back
out.

MS. BLUTH: Okay. I will let them know.

THE COURT: Okay.

(Off the record at 11:10 A.M. and back on

the record at 11:15 A.M.)

THE COURT: Let's go back on the record.

We took a short recess for everybody. I
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-~ RED ROCK PSYCHOLOGICAL HEALTH
6402 McLeod Drive #5 Las Ve |
_ Phone: (702) 898-531 / Fox (702) 222-3275

LY ESSMENT

IDENTIFYING INFORMATION:

Namg;

Aliases:

DOB:

Ape:

Social Security #:
Marital Status:
Sex:

Race:

Curremt Placement:

Family Mombers:

Donald Brown

Don

03/09/1963

51

540-84-3892

Single

Male

Caucasian

2127 Blue Zenith Circle
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119

Melissa Lawrence (significant other, 34 ycars)

Rebecca Brown (daughier, 32 years)

David Brown (son, 23 years)

Samantha Lawrence (Melissa Lawrence's daughter, 16 ycars)

The following children arc Mr. Brown and Melissa Lawrence's;
Nikki Brown (daughtor, 10 years)

Heidi Brown (daughter, 10 yoars)

Wyatt Brown (son, § years)

Date of Evaluation: October 29, 2014 -

Referral Source; Maryte Tallent, DFFS

Examiner: Kelley Mann, MSW, CSW-Imem
Melissa Webb, MSW, LCSW

REASON FOR REFERRAL:

Donald Brown was roferr
for a Tamily risk cvalvati
and (amily safety Issues

ed by Maryte Tallent with the Department of Family Scrvices (DFS)
on, to asseas his amenability to treatment, critical relapse/risk factors,
due to allegations of child abuse,

PROCEDURES OF EVALUATION:

I, Clinical Intervicw of M. Donald Brown, 10/28/14
2, Tolophone Collateral Interview with Melissa Lawrence, 11/10/14

3. Attampted Telophone Collatcral Tnterview with DFS Cascworkor, Maryte Tallont,
11/5/14,1112/14, and 11/13/14,

4, Telephone Collateral Intorview with DFS Supcrvisor, Heather Richardson, 11/17/14

067
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Donald Brown ‘
|

5. Reviow of Racords: Roferral Form, Disposition Report, 11/10/1¢
6. North Caroling SDM Family Risk Assessment of Child Abuse/Neglect Tool, 11/10/14

INFORMED CONSENT:

Prior to the beginning of the interview Mr. Brown wag provided a full description of the raonalc
for the physical abuge evaluation, the evaluation process, and the risks and bencfits of participa-
tion in the evaluation. Me. Brown was aware that the interviower would conduct a family risk
cvaluation as directed by DFS. Mr. Brown was cognizant that there was no confidentiality, and
that his report would be generated and submitted to his DFS case worker, Mr, Brown was nlso
advised of the importance of cooperation and honesty in order for the evaluation to be cffeotive,

Mr. Brown stated that he understood all of the consent (orms and acknowledged that ho had no
questions before following through with the evaluation,

ABUSE AND NEGLECT ALLEGATIONS:

The following is a summary of the presenting problem from the Clack County Department of
Family Services Community Provider Referral Form dated 10128/14:

“Samantha Lawtence came to the attention of the Department of Family Services in December
2013 afer a report was received indicating that she had a black eye. An investigation cnsued and
Samantha was found to have whip-like marks over her back and side of het abdomen, in addition
to her black cycs. Samantha reported that she hit her face on the cablnet door and that the injurics
on her abdomen were from a fall on a trampoling, Mr. Brown and Ms. Lawrence made similar
stalements, - The statements given to Child Protective Services appeared 1o be inconsistent with
the injuries sustained by Samantha. The case was staffed at CARES with Dr. Cetl who advised
that Samantha's injurics were fully consistent with child abusc, and could not have been as a re-
sultofa fall on a trampoline and had not been sclf-infliced, Samantha was subsequently re-
moved from the home by CPS, The injurics included bruising and/or abrasions andfor loop

macks and/or linear marks of differing Stages to her back: the injurics weré such that they could
not have oecusred without & deliberate but unreasonable act or failurc to act by the person or per-
sons responsible for the subject minor's welfare, Donald Brown physically abused the Subject
minor Samantha by hitting and/or striking and/or beating her with a belt and/or other object
and/or his hands. resulting in injuries doseribed above,”

*Donald mentally injured the subject minor Samantha by causing her to expericnce extrome fear,
anxiety, and emotional distress related to the ongoing physieal abuse.”

“The subject minors Heidi, Nikki. and Wyatt are deemed to be unsafee in the home due to the on-
going abuse of Samantha,”

“Donald Brown is presumed to be an unfit caregiver for the subject minors and was convicted of

Felony Manslaughter and Corporal Punishment of a Child in relation 10 the death of his infant
child in the 1980s.”

2014-11-24 07:43 red rock psychologie 7022223275 >> P35

068




1

Donald Brown ;

"The family has o very significant history with Child Protective Services, Therc have boen 7 re-
ports of physical abuse in a five year time frame. Samanths hes susigined injurics including
bruiscs (0 her face and eyes, a broken tooth, stitchcs, and bruising to her abdomen,”

“In March 2008, a ICPOTT was received that Samantha had brujges to her face including both eyes
being blackened. The family indicated that the older child, David, caused those injurics w0 Sa-
mantha. During the report, Samantha was observed to have makyeup on hor faoe as applicd by
Ms. Lawrene to cover bruising, She was 9 years old at the time.»

“In Novembcer 2008, another report came in that Samantha again had bruising to her face that
included finger shaped bruises and Jater a broken tooth, Again, Samantha had make-up on her
face as applicd by Ms, Lawrence,”

“In December 2009, a report was received that Samantha sustained a decp cut 10 her wrist that
she reported to the school had been caused by Mr. Brown throwing a butter knife at her, When
questioned about it, Samantha changed her story and stated that she cut herself on a fence in the
backyard. The reporting source stated that the story appeared to be rchearsed,”

“In Fobruary 2010, a report was recelved that Samantha had a black eye and stitches to her eye-
brow. During this rcport, Samanthia advised she had been hit by a remote control by a younger
sibling.”

*In January 2011, a report wes received that Samaniha had 2 4-5 inch round bruisc to hey abdo-
men and some marks under her eyes. Samantha reported sho fell out of bed,”

“In Jlanuary 2012, » report was recoived that Samantha had been withdrawn from school and had
noL been re-enrolled or envolled in home school. Concerns were expressed due to the significant
history of' Samantha having unexplained injurios thut the school had addressed with the parents

“In Junc 2014, Samantha gave a full written disclosurc naming Mr, Brown as the petpetrator of
the physical abuse againgt Samantha, The statement was a detailod disclosure and Samantha 1e5-
tified in criminal court, Samantha named the previously referenced incidents and advised that
she had been abused since she was 4 years old,”

"Ms. Lawrence and Mr., Brown have indicated that Samantha is scverely emotionally disturbed.
Despite this, Ms. Lawrence and Mr. Brown did not get Samantha any therapy or emotiong] help.
Both indicate that they attempted to get her help, but reported that the therapists would not “take
the cose™ because of CPS’ prior involvement. No records have been provided and namos of the

“§inco the removal, Samantha has made a disclosure thag Mr. Brown perpetrated the physical
abuso of her throughout the years. She has made the disclosure to several people including the
District Attorney, hor therapist, and other collaterals, Samantha has discussed the older reports

and indicated that they ware not accidental injuries in the past that she sustained, but rather phys-
ical abuse perpetruted in her parents* home,™
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Donald Brown

CLINICAL INTERVIEW:

Mt Brown was Interviewad at the office of Red Rock Psychological Health, He arrived on {ime
far his scheduled appointment, Mr, Brown was dresscd casually and appeared of average heipht
and overweight, Throughout the Interview M. Brown's mood and affect were pleasant and calm,
He maintained appropriate cye contact, Mr, Brown was oriented to person, place, sitvation, and
time. He was able to complete backward sorial 73 and spelling ‘world' backwards, Mr. Brown
showed no active signs consistont with psychosis or thought disorder. Mr. Brown's speech was
both logical and lincar. Mr. Brown appears of fair-averago intolligonce evidenced by his vocabu-
laty. knowledge bage, and edueation history,

MR. BROWN'S VERSION_ OF THE INCIDENT:

M. Brown reported to this evaluator that Samantha was late coming home from school and tha
she had shown up with Child Protective Servicas, He reported that she had 2 bruise on the eop.
ner of her eye and some marks on her back, At that time she had lold & friend thet he had
punched her in the eye per Mr. Brown, Mr. Brown reported that when the bruise oceurred on hor
Syc. Mr. Brown, his twins Nikki and Heidi all witnessed it. He reported, “She was taking the
dishcs oul of the dishwasher and the cabinet was open,” He reported that when she got up to put
the glasses away she hit the comer of her ¢ye on the cabinet. Ho reported, “[ looked at it. It was
Just 8 small mark at the beginning,” He reported that she also had marks on her back, He stated,
“Y'o us it looked like scratches.” e stated that she told CPS that she jumped off of the wal] on
to the trampoline. He reported that she told his son David's wifc, Alyshia Brown, that she had
donc this to herself, He stated that the day before the court hearing she came out with 3 letter to
him and made all kinds of al legations about this incident ang others, He reported that in (his lo-

tor sho addvessed the way he spoke to her, and that he had hit her with 5 fashlight and a frying
pan,

He beeame taaeful and stated, “Wo lost track of what wag going on in the house, We were both
working.” He reported, “I've said some terrible things 1o Samantha and T'can’t believe | swatted
Wyatt and the other kids and hurt them.” “The last thing I wan is to have them seared of me”

He reported, “Samantha wag lying. stealing. and I tald her if she didn’t stop she would eng upa |'

crack whore in North Town.” He roported that looking back he couldn't believe he said this, He

seported. “T did pet out of hand and tried to spank her. She’s too old and wouldn't listen 1o any-
thing,”

Wicn asked what Mr, Brown pled in this casc, he veported that he pled No Contest, When asked
if he thinks the allegations age scrious, Mr. Brown reported, “Vary,” _

When asked if he hagd any prior involvement with CPS he reported he had § prior allegations, all
involving Samanthy, Ho reported that the first one oceusred in 2008. He stated that Samantha

wrecked on her bicycle by hitting the tire of a minivan and got a black eya, Ho reported the on .
this occasion CPS wag notified by her school,

Mr. Brown reported that the sccond allegation was also jn 2008, He reported, “The kids ware
bouncing on the bed like 3 litle monkeys and she hit her face on something and got a bruige on
her cye.” He reported that her school reported this to CPS,

4
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Donald Brown .

Mr. Brown reported that th third allagation was in 2010 when Samantha had a small bruise on
her wrist and forearm by jumping over the wall and had cut herselt on a grate he was building for
the barbeaue. He stated that his san David and his friend had witnessed this, He stated that Sa-
mantha went to the bus stop and said her father stabbed her with a knifc.,

Mr. Brown reported that on the fourth allegation Samantha was removed from the home by CPS
for 2 weeks and staycd with their neighbors and was able to return after that, He reported that on
Super Bowl Sunday in 2010 Samantha was teasing Heidi and Heidi threw a Sponge Bob remote
control and hit Samantha in the head causing her eyebrow to split and her tooth to chip.

On the fifth oceasion she had a mark on her back and CPS had come to their house that same day
and there had been no mark.

He reported that he accepts responsibilities for what has happened in his house snd he admits to
making mistakes, but denics all previous physical abuse.

FAMILY OF ORIGIN:

Mr, Brown stated he was born In Ellensburg. Washington to his mother, Virginia Brandt. and
futher, David Brown, who passed away of tongue cancer 6 ycars ago. He reported his mother
and father divorced when he was 12 years old whilc they were living in Ely, Ncvada. His mother
remarried 1o Charles Brandt who passcd away of Pancreatic Cancer 14 years ago. His father was
remarried to Levine Brown. Levine Brown now remains a3 a widow. He reported that his father
was a metcorologist and was working as & weatherman and was roquired to travel a lot due to his
work, Mr. Brown reported that he could not remomber all of the times that he moved around duc
to moving so frequently, He romombered living in the following stater, but did not remember

the length of timo or his ayes: California, Oregon. Idaho, Colorado, Arizona. and Nevada.

Mr, Brown reported that he took his GED at the age of 17 and went into the Navy. Mr. Brown
toported that he lived in San Diego from the ages of 17-2]. He was incarcerated in California for
Voluntary Manslaughter of his 8 month old daughtoer from the ages of 21-26 and moved (o Las
Vegas, Nevada when he was relcased. ‘

He reported he has 3 siblings: Rick Rogers (57). half brother who lives in Las Vegas, Rita
Rennecker (56) who lives in Colorado Springs. and Brian Brown (48) who lives in Arizona,

When asked to deseribe his childhood. he reported. “Before the divoree we were the Leave it to
Beaver family.” He stated thet his mother was old faghioned and was a house wife. He remem-
bured camping, fishing, collecting pinc cones for the pince nuts. and having picnics with his fami-
ly. He stated that every weekend they did something together. He reported that be and his fami-
ly would eamp for an entire month cach summer.  Me stated that averall he had an exceltent
childhood. '

When asked how his relationaiip is now with his family members he reporied. “Ivis very good.
We were all pretty close.”
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When asked how his relationship is now with hig family membors he reported, “kt is very good.
We were all pretty elose.”

When asked if he ever ran away from honie, M. Brown reported no. Whon asked if he ever
stole from his family members. Mt Brown reported no. When asked if he was ovor removed
from his home by police or CPS. M. Brown reported no.

When élsked how he was disciplined as g child, Mr, Brown reported. “My mather would spank us
wilh a belt sometimes, ground us, or not allow us to have degsert.” He denied any macks or
bruiscs being left.

When asked what his relationship s like with his family members now he reported, “Excellent, 1
tulk to my mother and my oldcr son daily. my older daughter a fow times a week, and 1 remain
* close to my younger brother and sigter.”

ABUSE HISTORY:

M. Brown denicd any history of physical, emotional, and sexual abuse in his ¢hildhood,

DOMESTIC VIOLENCE;

When asked if he had ever boon arrested for Domestic Violence he reported e had come home
Iate aftor work one night, while living with his girlfriend, Doren Maren, and she “fipped ou,”

He reported that she tipped over the fish tank and left with his son. He reported (hat shortly af-
ter. ho was picked up for a traffic violation and was arrested for Domestic Disturbance, He re-

ported he went to jail for 8 hours and was tcleassd and never had to follow up with any classcs
for this.

Mr. Brown denied any other history of domestic violonce in his romantic relationships or family
of origin.

HOUSEHOLD INFORMATION:

M. Brown reported that he currently lives with his partncr, Meligsa Lawronos, who has been his
significant other for the last 13 years. He reported that their children are in (he custody of CPS

and currently reside in foster care, There is currently a no contact order with his childron,

EDUCATION & EMPLOYMENT HISTORY:

Mr. Brown stated he completed the 10th grade and reccived his GED, When asked about the

timeline of Mr, Brown’s employment, he denied ever being fired from a job, The following is a
Job history outline:

(47-51) 4 years Seif Employed, Mason, Cureent Position

(41-47) 6 years Scott Mitchell Des! gos, Concrate, Laid off when company
moved, ’

(40-41) | year Stvart Sandalc, Conerete, Quit for a job with better pay.
6
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+ (34-40) 6 years Master Craft Conerete. Quit to rolocato to Las Vogas,

+ {26-34) 8 years SR England, Truck driver, Quit 10 caro for his son David,

+ (21-26) 5 years Mr. Brown was incarcetated for Voluntary Manslaughter
in the stato of California.

+ (17:31) 4 years Navy, reccived honarable discharge.

+ (15-17)2 years Owens and Cornings, Quit 1o enrol! in the Navy.

SUBSTANCE ABUSE HISTORY:

Mr. Brown reported his first use of alcohol was at the age of 14, He reported drinking 3.4 beers
every other wegk currently. He reported his last use of aleohol was on Scptember 28, 2014 for
- his son David Brown's 23rd birthday.

Mr, Brown reported thet he started smoking mearijuana at the age of 15 and his last use was in

1989 when he was incarceratcd. He denicd any current use. He denied ever participating in drug
ot alcohol evaluation or treatment,

MENTAL HEALTH HISTORY:

When asked if Mr. Brown had cver seen a therapist or psychiatrist, Mr. Brown reported he has
buen attonding mandated therapy at Healthy Minds since September 2014 and his therapist is
David Sanchoz, When asked if he had cver refused meneal health services, My, Brown denied
doing s0. Mr. Brown donigd evor fooling suicidal or homicidal,

When Mr. Brown was asked how he would fecl about taking a physical abuse bolndaries class,
he stated, “I already completed this class o fow weeks ago at Red Rock Psychological Health, ™

When asked if he gets angry casily, he denied doing 5o, When asked if he had ever been ina
physical fight as an adult, he reported that while he hed been incarcorated he had been in 2 few
physical fights, He reported he was attacked o fow times whon ho was firat incarcorated und he
fought back as self-defonse, He reported that no one was badly injured.

CRIMINAL HISTORY:

Mr. Brown reported he was arrcsted 4 different times. He was arrested in 1984 and incareorated
until 1989 for Voluntary Manslaughter. Hc reported that his daughter was 8 months old a( the
time, He reported she was acting lethargic and she had stopped breathing. Ho did not want to

discuss this case any further and stated that he was a kid back then, He reporied that he accepted
a plea bargain for this cage,

He was derained while living in Colorado for Disturbance of the Peace. He reported that the po-
liee had come out due to his ex-gitifricnd Doren Maren shouting at him in front of their home.
He roported that he had 1 go to court and the charges were dropped.

Ho was arrested a third time for a Domestic Disturbance with his girlfriend, Doren Maten while

living in Colorado. He veporied hu went 1o jail for 8 hours and was released and never had to
follow up with any olasses for this.
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He reported the last time he was arrcsted was for his current case in March 2014 for 21 charges
ol child abuse and ncplect, He reported being incarcerated fram March 2014 until July 2014,

RELATIONSHIP HISTORY:

Mr. Brown reported tiiat he has been in 3 scrious telatiohships. He was married to Jerrie Brown
(28). from the ages of 18-22 and they got a divorce when he went to prison. He reported that she
passed away duc to heart failure at the age of 60,

He was marricd to his 2nd wife, Terissa Brown (21), from the ages of 28-33, He reported that
she was cheating on him while he was working as atruck driver, He stated that she left with his
son David and he never saw her again,

He reported that his current relationship is with Malissa Lawrence (34). whom he has been with
for a total of 13.

When asked abowt his foelings about his current relationship he reported, “It's execllcnt,”
PARENTING:

Whon asked about the rules in place for the childten in his home, he stated, “Nobody hits no-
body. no stealing, lying, tcasing, and no cursing,” He stated that curaing are “daddy’s words.”
He denied aursing at-his children, but admitted that he will stip up and use foul language cvery
once in a while, He reported that his children have a Jar he has to put a quarter In If he uses these
wolrds,

When asked how his partner digciplines their ohildren he reported, “She just sends them (o their
room.” When asked how he disciplines thoir children he reported, “1 usvally put them in a time
out against the same wall where we measure their height,” He reported that the time outs are no
longer than & fow minutes. He reported that Samantha will got sunt to hor room. He reported
that sometimes he would ground his children or spank his children on their butt using an open
hand, but denied leaving any marks or bruiscs.

When asked if'he or his partner had ever spanked the children he reported, “We have pretty good
kidy and very scldom spank them, We did when they werc a lot younger.” He denied bim or his
partner ever leaving any marks or bruiges,

When asked if anyone would say he or his partner were strict pacents or unfair to their children,
he said, “Over protective parents probably.” When asked how Ms. Lawrence is as a mother hie
reported, “She's excellent.” When asked how ho communicates with his partner he reported,
“We talk.”

FAMILY SAFETY PLAN:

When asked what the satsty plan for reunification i8, M. Brown reported he has to complete his
ovaluation with Red Rock Psychological Health and Is willing to follow any other recommenda-
tions. Ho roported that he completed the Physlcal Abuse Boundaries Classes at Red Rock Psy-
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chological Health a fow weeks 8go. He reported that he also completed the Triple P classes with
Depastment of Family Sevices,

COLLATERAL INTERVIEW OF MARYTE TALLENT, DFS CASEWORKER;

This writer atlem})tcd to conduct a collateral interview with his DFS cageworker, Maryto Tallant,
by telephone on November 6, 2014, November 12,2014, and November 13, 2014 but wag un.
successful.

COLLATERAL INTERVIEW OF HEATHER RICHARDSON, DFS SUPERVISOR:

This wriler conducted a collateral intcrview with his DFS supervisor, Heather Richardgon, by
telephone on November 16, 2014 for approximatcly 45 minutes, o

Ms. Richardson reported, "Mr, Brown presents amazingly well on the outside.” She reported
that based on his history, she fecls he Ig physically capable of harming Samanths. She reported
that he is the parent out of the two, who demonstrates more empathy and compassion for Saman-
the, “The fact remains that both parents are equally résponsible. Ms, Lawrence has the responsi-
bility 10 be the protective parent and neither parent playcd a protective role for the well-being of
Samantha.” _

She roported that when Child Protcctive Services first went oug, the CPS caseworker did a body
check and lifted Samantha's shirt and saw “loop marks"” that looked like they were from a belt or
an extension cord that had been held by both ends. Ms. Richardson reported that this case work-
er was new and did not remove Samantha from hor home at this time,

A fow weeks loter this case was staffed with o CPS supervisor, When the supervisor saw the
photographs of Samantha’s injurics, she sent the new cago worker back out with a senior casc
worker, At this time Samantha was re-intecviewed and her statoment was that she hit her face on
the cuphoard while putting away dishes. She reported that the marks on her abdomen were from
the springs on the trampoline. When the supervisor reviewed the photographs again sho stated
that the marks were not consistent with the story Samantha gave and Samantha was romoved
from her home, '

Ms. Richardson reported that she is the Permanency Supervisor for Child Protective Services,
She reported that this case originally came through the CPS hotline in December 2013 and the
removal of Sumantha happened in January 2014, The ofher children were removed from their
home a few weeks later, She reported that after she saw the photographs of Samantha's injuries
and the history of Mr, Brown’s cage of murdering hls child, she had Samantha's siblings re-
moved Iyom the home, She reported that because therc i8 no disclosurc of medically consigtent
information with the injurics involved, the three other children were loft vulncrable in the iome,
She also had concerns of impending danger due to a non protective mother.

Ms, Richardson contacted scveral managers who also agreed thal the 3 younger children were ig
impending danger if they were not removed from the home and placed into protective custody,

Ms. Richardson reported that there have been a total of 7 prior investigations within the lagy §
years. She raported thut every time Samantha had significant injurles the stories werg 1ot cone

9
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sistont with the injuries sustained. She reported that Samantha's storles were verbatim 10 the sto-
rivs that her parents had said. Ms, Richardson reported that Samantha had been pulled out of
school by Ms, Lawronoe and placed into homeschool duc to the school’s concerns and reports
that had beon made to CPS. She reported that with these 7 prior allegations made, Samanthg had
received multiplo black eyes, stitches, a broken tooth, and bruises o "hcr abdomen,

Ms. Richardson raported that in 2010 CPS interviewed and did a formal court involved casc with
this family and Samantha had been placed into protective custody with 8 0o contact order, They
took her 3 younger children and sent them to Mas. Lawrence's mother's house,

She reported that there have been phone calls recorded hetween Ms. Lawronce and Mr, Brown,
They both have made statemonts tat Samantha is a problem and caused all of these injuries 1o
hevself,

Ms. Richardson reported that Samantha has been in custody for one year and hasn't injured her.
scit other than one time while being supcrvised when she fell off of her bicycle, She has also
had minor injurics while playing sports. but no self-inflicted injurics as reported by her parents,
She reported that Samantha has been an honor roll student and has donc tremendously well while
in foster care.

She reported that tho first 4 months while Samantha had been in foster care she kept the same
Slory about the injuries she hed incurred, M carly June, CPS was notificd by her therapist that
Sumantha had disclosed in writing the truth about her abuse, She wrote a letter to Mr, Brown
stating that he had been beatlng her since she was 3 years old and she was tired of it all, Since
this disclosurc she has kept the same story, ~

Ono coneorn that Ms. Richardson had regarding M. Brown and Ms. Lawrence's belief that Sa-
mantha was soverely emotionally disturbed, why did nelther of them seek treatment for her,

Ms. Richardson reported that Mr. Brown has been attending mandated individual therapy at
Healthy Minds sinco Septombor 2014,

Ms. Richardson reported. that Mr. Brown and Ms, Lawrence currently have a no contact order
with their childeen. No physical contact o phone calls are allowed at this time,

COLLATERAL INTERVIEW OF MELISSA LAWRENCE:

This writer conducted a collatera) intorview with Mr. Brown'’s significant other, Molisss Law-
rence, via telephone, on November 10, 2014,

Ms. Lawrence reported that the original investigator Yolanda Flores came to the house on De.
cember 10, 2013 and brought Samantha home fram sohool with her. She reported, “Yolanda gat
us down and said there has boen a call from someon at school dug to Samantha having s black
eye.” She reparted that when Yolanda did a body inspection on Samantha, she had what looked
like scratehes on her back, She reported that Samantha had elimbed up the block wall and
scralched her back and then fell onto the trampolinc. She reporied that when Yolanda asked Sa-
mantha In front of them, why she didn’t tell her parcnts abowt this, she reported that kids aren’
suppased to be out unless her parents aré with them and she didn’t want to get into troubl, She

i0
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reporied that she got a phone call on January 8, 2014, from Yolanda stating sho had taken Sa-
mantha into custody and she would have to follow up in court, Ms. Lawrenco roporiad that she
did not fee] Mr. Brown had harmed Samantha in any way,

Ms. Lawrence stated she and Mr. Brown have been together for 13 years. She roported that she
hay never been married and that Mr. Brown is her only serious relationship, Ms, Lawrenoo stat-
cd that she has been working at the Hilton as a supervisot in sales for almost 3 years,

When asked how she felt about Mr, Brown us a father, she reported, “He’s real open and the kidg
are ulways hugging him and loving him,”

When asked if there arc rules in place for their children in the home she reported, “There are
normal rules such as no talking back and everybody should listen to what you’re told to do.”

When asked how she disciplines her children she reporied, “Put them in time out, send them to
their rooms, and take things away that they enjoy for maybe a half of a day.” When asked how
her partner disciplines their children she roported he disciplines the same way and also talks to

the kids and explains to them what they have done wrong,

Whon asked how she communicates with her partaet, she reported, “We sit down and (glk.”

Ms, Lawrence deniad ever using any illegal substances in her life. She reported that she was 22
the firet time sho had a drink of aleohol and currsntly dogsn't drink often. She reported that her
laat drink wag on her son David’s birthday in Scptember 2014,

When asked if Ms, Lawrence had ever sccn a therapist or psychiatrist, Ms. Lawrence reported
she has been going to mandated therapy at Healthy Minds onoc a weck since August 16, 2014,
Ms. Lawrence denied ever foeling suicidal or bomicidal, She deniod over refusing mental hoalth
services. When asked if she gets angey easily, aha deniod doing so.

Ms, Lawrence denied ever being avrested. M. Lawrence denicd any history of domastic vio-
lence in romantic relationships or in her family of origin.

Ms. Lawrence teported she currently lives alone with Donald Brown. She stated that hor chil-
dren are currently at St. Jude's Ranch in the care of Jackie Wolfé. Therc is a no contact order gnd
no vigits are allowed with any of their children at this time.

RISK ASSESSMENT:

The following risk assessment is based upon clinical interview and review of the documentation.
Thesc assessments arc made on the assumplion that the allegations are truc. due to the No Con-
Test plea tn order to determine risk Factors to the community,

|« North Carolina SDM Family Risk Assessment of Child Abuse/Negleet

The North Carolina SOM Fami ly Risk Asscssment of Child Abuse/Neglect identifics the proba«
bility that a family may continue to abusc or neglect their children, The assessment too] is based
on research showing a relationship between family chavacteristics and outcomes of Subscquent
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abuse and neglect cascs. Since different dynamics exist in abuse and neglect situationg, geparato
scales are used to assess abuse or neglect.

He scored.a raw score of 8 out of a possible 12 related to physical abuse, which places hig family
ina HIGH Risk range to re-o/fend for abuse, The risk level was assigned dua to:

. Current report s for both abuse and ncglect

. Onc or more prior CPS investigative asscssments (2 points)

. Prior CPS in home/out of heme service history

. Age of youngost child in the home 5 or older g
Three or moro children residing at the home at the time of the eurrent report i
Child characteristics: Mental Health and/or behavioral problems :
Carctuker was a perpetrator of domestic violence prior to the last X2
months

He scorcd a raw scorc of 7 out of 16 related to neglect, which places his family in a HIGH Risk
cange for future neglect, The risk level was assigned due to: _

. Current report is for both negloct and abuse

Onc or morc prior CPS investigative assessments (2 points)

Prior CPS in homc/out of home service history
. Three or more children residing at the home at the time of the current report
' Age of primary cavetaker 30 or older (-1 paint)

Eithor cnratakor lacks parenting skills

Child eharactoristics: Mental Hoalth and/or behavioral probloms

-CLINICAL IMPRESSIONS:

Duc to the investipation and involvement of the legal system, this typo of risk asseasmont ag-
SUMES any person participating in this type of evaluation is guilty and thereforo unable to scoro
betow a “Low Risk™ rating.

The following concerns were identified during the inferview:

Denial of Allggations:

Mr, Brown denies that Samantha was physically abused, He believes all her injurics wers at the
fault o hersclf or another child, Investigations and medical specialists have found injurics to be
consistent with abuse,

Mr. Brown refused to discuss his Voluntary Manslaughter charges in detail during this intervicw.

Multiplc CPS/ palice involvemongs: !,

Ms. Richardson reported that there have been a toval of 7 prior investiyations within the lagt 5 i
yoars. She reporied that with these 7 prior allegations made, Samantha had rescived multiple %
black ayes. stitches. a broken tooth, and bruises to her abdomen,

12 |
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Criminsl Higtorv: |

Mr. Brown reported he was arrested 4 difforent times. He was arrested in 1084 and incarcerated
until 1989 for Voluntary Manslaughtcr. He reported that his daughter was 8 months old et the

. time, He reported she was acting letharpic and she had stopped breathing, He did not want to
. discuss this case any further and stated that he was a kid back then. He reported that he accepted

a Plca Bargain for this cage,

He was detained while living in Colorado for Disturbance of the Pcace. He weported that the po-
lice had come out duc to his ex-girlfricnd Doren Maren shouting at him in front of their home,
He rcported that he had to go to court and the charges were dropped.,

He was arrested a third time for a Domestic Disturbance with his girlfricnd at the ime while ljv-
ing In Colorado. He reported he went to jail for 8 hours and was relessed and never had to fol-
low up with any clagses for this. _

Ho seported the last time he was arvesied was in March, 2014 for 21 charges of child abuge and
nogloct. He reported being incarcerated from March 2014 until July 2014 for a total § months

Angor Managoment/ Impulse Contral:

Duc to Mr. Brown's history of Voluntary Manslaughter, spanking, fighting in prison, and, boing
arrested on two deecasions for Domestio Disturbanoce, it is reasonable 10 assume he has difficulty
controlling his anger and resisting impulscs.

istent ation:

During the intcrview, Mr. Brown admitted o spanking his children, However during Ms, Law-
rence's collateral interview she did not disclose that spanking was a disciplinc choige.

Mr. Brown’s resiliency factors include;
- Cooperation with his evaluation,
- Employed.
- Completed Physical Abuse Boundary Clagses.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS:

The primary concer related 10 the cause of Samantha’s injurios still remaing unknown, My,

Brown js not admiiting to causing sueh injurics.

DSM-IV TR Diagnostic Impression:

Axig1: V61,21 Physlcal Abuse of a Child

Axis |1 799.9 Doforred

Axm il None roported

Axis [V Severe: Legal, Separation from Children

Axis V (curreny): 65
13
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. l
Bascd on the information provided for his ¢valuation, Mr. Brown"s HIGH risk for physical

abuse/noglect recidivism and the above noted clinical impressions, the following recommenda.
tions are being made:

1. Mr. Brown should submit to a Domestle Viclence Eveluation and follow all recommenda-
tions made by the evaluator.

2. Mr. Brown should attend anger management/impulse control classes and follow aj} rccom-
mendations made by the facilitator.

3, Mr. Brown should continug In weekly individual therapy to address his position of denial
and history of criminal behaviors,

4. Mr. Brown should continue not to have contact with his children until he is
meeting the requirements of his DFS case plan and his risk of abuse is decrcased, He then
should move to superviscd visits.

Rospeotfully Submitted,

Kclley Mann, CSW intern

A (CN
Mclissa Webb, MS.W,, L.C .8.W,

Clinical Director

6402 8. McLeod #5

Las Vegas, NV 89102

702-898-5311
702-222-3275 fax
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RED ROCK PSYCHOLOGICAL HEALTH

6402 MclLeod Drive #5 Los Vegos, Nevada 89120
Phone.:_ (702) 898-331 / Fax: (702).222-3275

FAMILY RISK ASSESSMENT

IDENTIFYING INFORMATION:

Name: Melissa Lawrence

Alinscs: None

DOB: 08/07/1980

Ager 34

Socinl Security #: 530-21-0666

Marital Status: Single

Sex: Female

Race: Caucasian

Currnit Placement: -~ 2127 Blue Zenith Circle
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119

Family Members: Donald Brown (significant other, 51 years)

David Brown (Donald’s son. 23 years)
Sumantha Lawrence (daughtor with unknown, 16

years)

The following children ure Mg, Lawranee and Mr. Brown 's:
Nikki Brown (daughter, 10 years)
Heidi Brown (daughter, 10 years)
Wyait Brown (son, S years)

Dutv of Evaluation: November 24, 2014

Roforral Source: Marytc Tallent. DFS

Examiner: ' Kelley Mann, CSW-Intem
Melissa Webb, MSW, LCSW

REASON FOR REFERRAL:

Melissa Lawrence was referred by Maryte Tallent with the Department of Family Scrvices
(DI'S) for a family risk evaluation, to asscss her amenability to treatment. eritice) relapse/risk
factors, und family safety issucs due to allegations of child abuse.

Procedures of evaluation:

I, Clinical Intervicw of Ms. Melissa Lawrence, 11/24/14

2. Review of Records: Referral Form, Disposition Report. Order Dissolving No Contact
Order. Graduate Certificates from Non-Offending Parcating Class and Triple P Class.
11/28/14

3. Coliatoral Interview with Donald Brown, 10/28/14

4. Collateral Interview with DFS Supervisor, Heathor Richardson. 11/17/14, 12/01/14, and
12/02/14,
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§. North Carolina SDM Family Risk Assessment of Child Abuse/Negleet Taol. 11/25/14
6. Auvmpled Collateral Tnterview with Maryte Tallent, 11/26/14, 12/01/14, and 12/02/14,

INFORMED CONSENT:

Prior to the beginning of the interview Ms, Lawrence was provided a full description of the
rationalc for the physical abusc cvaluation, the evaluation process, and the risks and benefits of'
participation in the cvaluation, Ms. Lawience was aware that the interviewer would conduct a
family risk evaluation as directed by DFS. Ms. Lawrence was cognizant that there was no
confidentiality, and that her report would be generated and submitted 10 her casc worker and
courl, Mg, Lawrence was also advised of the importance of cooperation and honesty in order for
the evaluaiion to be effective,

Ms, Lawrence stated that she understood all of the consent forms and acknowledged that she hud
no quustions before following through with the cvaluation,

ABUSE AND NEGLECT ALLEGATIONS:

The following i a summary of the presenting problem from the Clark County Department of’
Family Services Community Provider Reforral Form dated 10/28/14:

"Samantha Luwrence came to the attention of the Department of Family Sorvioes in December
2013 aftcr a report was recoived indicating that she had a black oye, An investigation ensued and
Sumuntha was found to have whip-like matks over her back and sido of her abdomen, in addition
to her bleck eyes. Samantha reported that she hit hor face on the cabinet door and that the injuries
on her abdomen wore from a fall on a teampoline. My, Brown and Ms. Lawrence made similar
statemonts. The statemeats given to Child Protective Services appeared ta be inconsistent with
the injurics sustained by Samantha. The case was ataffed at CARES with Dr. Cetl who advised
that Samantha’s injuries were fully consistent with child abusc, and could not have been as a
result of u fall on 2 trampoline and had not been self-inflicted. Samantha was subsequently
removed (rom the home by CPS. The injurics included bruising and/or abrasions and/or loop
marks and/or linear marks of differing stages to her back; the injurics were such that they could
not huve occurred without a deliberate but unreasonable act or failurc to act by the person or
persons responsible for the subject minor’s welfare. Donald Brown physically abuscd the subject
minor Samantha by hitting and/or striking snd/or beating her with a belt and/or other objoct
and/or his hands, resulting in injuries described above.”

“Donald mentally injured the subject minor Samantha by causing her to expericnce extreme fear.
anxicty, and emotional distress related to the ongoing physical abuse.”

“The subjcct minors Heidi, Nikki. and Wyatt are deensed to be unsafe In the home duc to the
ongoing abusc of Sumantha,” ' ;

**Donald Brown is presured to be an unfit careglver (or the subject minﬁra and was convicted of
Felony Manslaughter and Corporal Punishment of a Child in relation to the death of his infant
child in the 1980s.”
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'l he family has a very significant history with Child Protective Serviees. There have been 7
teports of physical abuse In a five ycur time frame, Samonthe has sustained injuries including
bruiscs vo her face and cycs, a broken tooth, stitchws, and bruising to her abdomen,”

“In Murch 2008, a roport was roceived that Samantha had bruises to her fuce including both eycs
being bluckenod. The family indicated thar the older child. David. caused these injuries to
Sumantha. During the report, Samantha was obgerved to have make-up on her face as applicd by
Ms. Luwronce t0 cover bruising. She was 9 ycars old atthe time.™

“|n November 2008, anather report came in that Samantha again had bruising to her face that
included finger shaped bruises and later & broken tooth. Agam‘ Samantha had make-up on her
face o applied by Ms, Lawrence,”

“ln Docember 2009, a report was recsived that Samantha sustained a deep cut to her wrist that
she reporied to the school had been caused by Mr, Brown throwing a butier knife at her, When
questioned about it, Samantha changed her story and stated that she cut herself on a fence in the
backyard. The reporting soutce stated that the story appeared to be rehearsed.”

“In February 2010, a report was received that Samantha had a black eye and stitches to her
cycbrow. During this report. Samantha advised she had been hit by & remote control by a
younger sibling.”

“In January 2011, a report was received that Samantha had @ 4-5 inch round bruise to her
abdomen and some marks under her eyes. Samantha wported she foll out of bed.™

“{n January 2012, a report was reccived that Samantha had boon withdrawn from scheol and had
not been re-enrolled or enrolled in home school. Concorns were uxprassed due to the sipnificant
history of Samantha havmg unoxplained injurics that the school had addressed with the parcnts
and that she was now not in 3chool,™

“In June 2014, Samantha gave a full written disclosure naming Mr. Brown as the perpetrator of
the physical abuse against Samuntha. The statement was a detailed disclosure and Samantha
walified in onmmal court. Samantha named the previously referenced incidents and advised that
she had beon abused since she was 4 years old.”

“Ms, Lawrence and Mr. Brown have indicated that Samantha is scverely cmotionally disturbed.

Dospite this, Ms. Lawrence and Mr, Brown did not get Samantha any therapy or emotional help.

Both indicate that they attemptcd to get her he!p, but reported that the therapists would not “take
the case” because of CPS’ prior involvement. No records have been provided and names of the

providers where services were sought have not been received. Relatives have indicaled that Ms.

{.awrence and Mr, Brown have told them that Samantha injured herself throughout the years, Tt
should be noted there have been no reports of any self-injuries since removal ™

"Since the removal. Samantha has made a disclosure that Mr. Brown perpetrated the physical
abuse of her throughout the years. She has made the disclosure to scveral people including the
District Attorney. her therapist, and other collaterals. Samantha has discussed the older roports
und indicated that they wore not accidental injuries [n the past that she sustainod. but rathar
physical abusc perpetrated in her parents’ home.™
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DEFENDANT'S VERSION OF THE INCIDENT:

Ms. Lawrence reporled that the original investigator Yolanda Flores oame to the house on
December 10, 2013 and brought Samantha home from school with her, She reported. “Volanda
said there had been a call from someonc at school due to Samanthe having a black eye.” She
reported that when Yolanda did 2 body inspection on Samantha, she had what looked like
scralches on her back, Ms. Lawrence explained that Samantha had climbed up the block wall |
and scratched her back and then fcll onto the trampoline. She roported that she got a phone call
on Junuary 8. 2014, from Yolanda one month later, stating she had taken Sumantha into custody
and she would have to follow up in court. Ms. Lawrence teported that she did not feel Donald
hud harmed Samantha in any way.

Ms, Lawrenoe roported that her daughter Samantha was removed from their home on January 8.
2014, She reported that her 3 other children remained in her and Mr, Brown’s care and-were
taken one weok later and placed into foster care. She reported that on February 10, 2014 the
shildron were placed with Donald Brown’s son, David Brown and his wife. Alicia Brown. Ms,
Tawrence and Mr. Brown moved out of their home until April 3, 2014 so the ¢hildien and David
and Alicia Brown could live there, She reported that David and Alicla decided to discontinue
puardianship of the children due to CPS telling Alicia that “il' she did not fully cooperate that
they would open up an investigation on her and that they would take her son into protective
custody.” She stated that this conversation took place on March 28, 2014 in a side room at the
court with 5 CPS case workers present.

Ms. Lawrence veported that on April 3, 2014 the children were placed at Child Flaven,  She
stated that on May 5, 2014 all of the children were then placed at St. Jude’s Ranch and have
remained theve since,

When asked what Ms. Lawrence pled n this case, she reported that she pled No Contest, When
asked if she thinks the allegations arc serlous, Ms, Lawrence reported, “To a point, yea." She
teported that she originally had 7 charges and they werc diopped to 2 charges. Ms, Lawrence
veported the current allegations are Child Abusc and Negloet with Mental Harm.

When asked if she had any prior involvement with CPS she reported there have been 4 (otal of 7
prior allegations, all involving Samantha, She reported that 6 of the previous reporis were
unsubstantiated, She stated she was at work at the time of the incidents, She reported that she
had been working 6 days a week ftom 7am to 7pm.

The first allogation ocourred in 2008, She stated that Samantha and David were playing outside
and David was on hig electric scooter and Samantha was on her bicycle and they had crashed
inlo ono another causing her to wreck on her bicycle, She stated the black eye was not from
abusc, but rather from Samantha hitting her head on a minivan tire.

Ms. Lawrenee reported that she agreed with Mr. Brown's statement that the second allegation
was also in 2008, Hle reported that “The kids werc bouncing on the bed like 3 little monkeys and
ghe hit her face on somcthing and got a bruisc on her eye.”
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She reported that the third allegation was in 2010 when Samantha had a small bruise on her wrist
and forearm by jumping over the wall and hud cut horself on o grate Mr. Brown was building for
the barbecus. She stated that My, Brown's son Duvid and bis friend had witnessed this. She
stated that Samantha went o the bus stop and said her father stabbed her with a knife, Ms.
Lawrence reported that Samantha recanted and admitied she had licd regarding the allcgations
she had madc during this incident.

My, Lawrenoe reported that she agreed with Mr. Brown’s statement regarding the 4" incident;
that on Supor Bow! Sunday in 2010 Samantha was teasing Heidi and Heidi threw a Sponge Bob
romote control and hit Samantha in the head causing her cyebrow to split and her tooth to chip.
She reported that at the time of this incident Mr. Brown was not in the home. She reported that

* she had been home with Mr, Brown's son David, She reported that Samantha was removed [tom
the home by CPS for 2 weeks and placed with their neighbors and was able 10 return aficr that.
She reported foeling upset by this because no background check was cver done on her neighbors,

Mr. Brown reported that on the fifth occasion Sammantha had a mark on her back and CPS had
come to their house that same day and there had been no mark. Ms. Lawrence reported that she
hud no recollection of this happening. _

She veported that there has always been a witness present during the time cach allogation that
was made. Ms. Lawrence reported that Samantha recanted on 3 of the allegations she had made.

Ms. Lawrence reported that her next coust date 18 in February 2016 and that sho has a trial date
set sometime in 2016,

CLINICAL INTERVIEW:

Ms. Lawrence was intcrvicwed at the office of Red Rook Peychological Fealth. She arrived on
time for her scheduled appointment, Ms, Lawrence was dressed casually and appeared of
average height und weight, Throughout the interview Ms. Lawrence’s mood and affect were
tense and flat. She leancd forward on the side of the couch for the entirety of the interview. She
muintaincd uppropriate eyc contact. M. Lawrence was oriented to person. place, situation. and
time. She was able to complete backward serial 7a and spelling “world” backwards, Ms,
Lawrence showed no active signs consistent with psychosis or thought disorder. Ms. Lawrence's
specch was both logical and lincar. Ms, Lawrence appears of fair-average intelligence cvidenced
by her vocabulary, knawledpe base, and education history.

FAMILY OF ORIGIN:

Ms. Lawrence stated she was born in Mesquitc, Texas to her moiher, Sandra Lawrence, and her
futher. Harold Lawrence. She reported living in Texas until the age of 7, At the age of 3 weeks.
she reported her mother and father got a divorce and she did not know the reason for this, She
reported that her mother never remarried. She reported that her father remareicd Diane Lawrence
and they have been together for a total of 33 years. Ms, Lawronce reported She was raiscd
mainly in Las Vegas by lier mother, She reported that her father was still a big part of her lifo,
She stated that her mother and stepmother got along well, She reportcd that they all spont time
lopether even though her parcats got a divoree.
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Whicn asked to describe her childhood, she reported. “I always had a lot of friends and was
focused and involved in school.” She reported that she always wanled to get good grades. She
teported that she always took vacations on the California coastline. She reportad that her
siblings. stepmother, father. and mather often went on camping trips together. She remembered
fishing and playing horseshoes with her family. She reported that overall she had an “excellent
childhood.” '

When asked about her relationship with her family while growing up, Ms. Lawrence stated It

“was very good. We were all very ¢lose.” She roported that she felt the same way towards her
siblings and reporied, “We always got along with one another.” She reported having one half
sister, Jennifer Lawrence (30) who currently lives in Mesquite. Texas and one half brother, Jason
Lawrence (28). who also currently lives in Mesquite, Texas.

When asked if she ever ran away from home. Ms. Lawzence reporied no. ‘When asked if she
ever stole from her family members, Ms. Lawrence reported no. When asked if she way ever
removed from her home by police or CP'S, Ms, Lawrence reported no.

When asked how she was disciplined es & child, Ms, Lawrenee reported that she was grounded
when she did get into trouble, but she was “always too busy with my nose in a book.™ Ms.
Lawrence reported that her mom and dad “popped her” on the butt at times. She reported that
this was on top of her clothing and denicd any marks or bruises boing left on her. Me, Lawrence
denivd belng emotionally abused or neglested from hor parcats.

When asked about her rolationship with her family now, ghe reporied. “1 talk to my mom and dad
wice a day. I talk to my stopmother twice a week and I still have a good relationship with my
siblings.”

ABUSE HISTORY:
Ms. Lawrence denied any history of physical, emotional, and sexual ebuse in her childhood.

DOMESTIC VIOLENCE:

Ms. |.awrence denied any history of domestic violence in romantic relationships or in her family
of origin,

HOUSEHOLD INFORMATION:

Ms. Lawrence reported she currently lives alone with Donald Brown. She stated that her
children are currently at St. Jude’s Ranch in the care of Jackic Wolfe. She reported that there
was a No Contact Order and she had this lifted by the court, Ms. Lawrcnce provided this
interviewer with the court documentation demonstrating this during this interview, She roported
that she sl has not been allowed to have any comimunication or visilations with any of her
children at this time duc to recommendations from her cnsc supervisor Heather Richardson.

When asked why her mother Sandra Lawronce was not able to provide guardianship for her
children she stated her mother did not quatify. Ms, Lawrence reported that CPS wanted proof
that Sandra Lawrence was Ms, Lawrence’s maternal mothor. She reported that they requested

6

086




2014-12-08 10:37 red rock psychologie 7022223275 »» P 817"
Melissa Lawrence

her sociul security number over the telophone and she refused. Hor mother seid she would
provide this Information while in person. She reported that har mother had a confrontation with
DFS Supervisor, Heather Richaydson.

Ms. Lawrence teported that on April 4, 2014 Heather Richardson and Marytc Tallent sat down
with hor mother and told hor “if ghe cver wanted to redeem herself as a mother she would need (0.
git me down and toll me what a picce of scum [ was,”

Ms, Lawrence reported that while Samantha was in the care of Jackic Wolfe she had an accident
on her bicyele causing her to have stitches in her vagina. She reported that on the night of
Seplember 27, 2014 she was in San Diego with Mr, Brown for their son David's birthday, She
reported that David received a phone call from Ms. Wolfe around 11 pm and asked him ifhe
knew where his parents were. At that time Ms. Lawrence got on the phone with My, Wolfe and
she told her that Samantha had been in a bicyele accident and landed on the bar by the seat, Ms.
Lawrence reported that Ms, Wolfe stated that she shouldn’t have even had Samantha outside
riding her bicycle because it was flooding.

“When the aceident first happened Ms, Wolfe took Samantha to the Boulder Clty Emergency
Room for bruising and scratches. Later on that night Samanthy was compluining that it hurt to
go lo the bathroom and she was blecding. Ms. Wolfe 100k Samantha back to the Boulder City
Emcrgency Room and they were unsure if the blood was coming from her urethra or clitoris,
They also found lacerations on hor vagina,” Ms. Lawrence reporbed that Samentha had to be
transported to Sunrise Hospital Pediatric Unit due to the cxtent of the injuries caused. Ms,
Lawrence stated that on the next day David Brown called Ma. Wolfe to scc how Samanthu was
doing and she was still hospitalized.

Ms. Lawrsnce reported that she was never contacted by CPS about this accident. When Mg, ' ;
Lawrence spoke with her case supervisor Mg, Richatdson about how Samantha was doing. Ms. ' ;
Richavdson told Ms, L.awrence, “Don’t think you can use this against us. because Samantha is 2
child and childron have aocidonts all of the time and this is nothing more than a minot accident.”
Ms, Lawronco refused to disclose who the biological father of Samantha was to this interviewer.,
EDUCATION HISTORY:

Ms. Lawrencoe stated she completed high school. She reported she received her Associates !
Deyice in Accounting. M. Lawrence roported she atiended vocational schooling for drafting j
und reading blue prints. She also stated she is a Master Graduate from Rapport Nationa) l
Lcadership in Las Vegas, Novada, :
EMPLOYMENT HISTORY:

When asked about the timeline of Ms, Lawrcncé‘s employment. she stated she had never been % i
fired from any of her jobs. The following is a job history outline: ‘

. Current (31-34) Hilton, Supcrvisor In Sales.
. S years (25-31) BW Credit Union, Branch Manager, Branch wua olosed.
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- 4 years (23-25) American Sand and Gravel. Account Manager, Left to be a stay at home
mother.

SUBSTANCE ABUSE HISTORY:

Ms. Lawrence denicd cver using any illegal substances in her life. She reported that she was 22
the first time she bad a drink and currently docsn’t drink often, She reported that hee last drink
was on her son David’s birthday in Scptember 2014. She denied any history of DUI or arrests.

" MENTAL HEALTH HISTORY:

When asked if Ms, Lawrence had ever seen & theraplst or psychlatrist. Ms. Lawrence reported
she has been going to mandated therapy at Healthy Minds once a week since August 16, 2014,
Ms, Lawrcnce denied ever fecling suicidal or homicidal. She denicd cver refusing mental health
scrvices, When asked if she gets angry casily, she denied doing so. She reported she is not
currently satisfled with her treatment,

CRIMINAL HISTORY:

Ms. Lawrence denied having a legal history. When asked if her partner bas a eriminal higtory
she roportod that in 1983 or 1984 he was convioted of Voluntasy Mansiuughter. She stated that
he was martiod to his et wife, Jorri Brown nt the time, She reportad that Mr. Brown was in the
Navy at the time and was on land for 3 days. She stated that his daughter Amanda wasn’t
breathing and that Mr. Brown called to get her to the hospital, She stated that he was
interrogated for 28 hours and that the District Attorney told him they would take his other
daughter Becky. She stated he admitted to killing his daughter Amanda to save his wife and his
daughter Becky. and he was sent 1o prison for 5 years, She reported that his wifc Jerri Brown
divorced Mr, Brown while hc was incarcerated. She reported that Jerri Brown passed away 4
fow yeurs ago,

RELATIONSHIP;

Ms. Lawronce (34), stated she has been together with Donald Brown (S1) for a total of 12 years,
She reported that she has never been married and that Donald is her only serious relationship.
She veported that they met while trick or trcating on Halloween in 2002. They moved in together
4 months later,

PARENTING:

When asked if there are rules in place for thelr children in the home she reported, *1'here are
normal rules such as no talking back and everybody should listen to what you're told to do.™

When asked how she or her partner disciplines their children she reported. " send thm to their
room. put them in a time out, or whatever'their spocial thing is that thoy like 1 will take it away
for half of he day or longer doponding on what they did.” When asked how her partney
disciplines their children she reported he puts them in & time out or he will take away dessert for
thot night,
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When asked if she or her pariner ever spanked the children she reported that they both have
spanked their children on the butt on 10p of their clothing in the past, but denied ever leaving any
marks or bruises.

When asked i anyone would say that she is a strict parent she reported, “Maybe some people
would say that I'm overprotestive with my children.” Sho reported that if any of her children go -
10 someonc’s house she expects to meet the parents and see whare they live and what exactly is
going on in their housechold,

When asked it anyone would say that she or her partner are unfair or unrcasonable to their
childron sha roported her rules are “no make-up, no skinny jeans. and no crop tops.” She
roporsed thut she is a firm believer that when her childeen atc using any electronics that they nced
to ba monitored.

Whan asked how she felt about Mr, Brown as a father, she reported. “He’s good, The kids love
and adore him. They spend a lot more time with him then mysell, because L work a Jot.™

When asked how she communicates with her partner, she reported. “We talk a tot.™
FAMILY SAFETY PLAN:

Ms, Lawrence reported she does not have a safety plan at this time, She reporicd she has
completed the Non Offending Parenting Classes at Red Rock Psychological Health and the
Triple P Parenting Classcs in Septeraber, 2014,

COLLATERAL INTERVIEW OF HEATHER RICHARDSON, DFS SUPERVISOR:.

This writer conducted a collateral interview with his DFS suporvisor, Heathar Richardson, by
tlephone on November 16, 2014 for upproximatcly 45 minutos, Decomber 1, 2014 for
approximatcly 20 minutes, and December 2, 2014 for approximately 30 minutes.

Ms, Richardson reported, “My, Brown presents amoazingly well on the outside.™ She reported
that based on his history, sho focls he is physically capable of harming Samantha, She reported
that Ms. Lawrence demonstrates zero empathy. which is concerning. “The fact remaing that both
porents arc equally sesponsible, Ms, Lawrence has the responsibility to be the protective parent
and neither parent played a protective role for the well-being of Samantha.™

She reported that when Child Protective Services first went out, the CPS caseworker was new.
$ho did a body check and lifted Samantha’s shirt and saw “loop marks" that looked like they
were from a belt or an extension cord that had been held by both ends. Ms. Richardson reported
that this case worker was new and did not semove Samantha from her home at this time,

A few weeks later this case was staffcd with a CPS supervisor. Wien the supervisor saw the
photographs of Samantha’s injurics, she sent the new case worker back out with a acnior case
worker. At this time Samantha was re-intesvicwed and her statcmient was that she hit her face on
the cupboard while putting away dishes. She reported that the marks on her abdomen were from
the springs on the trampoline. When the supervisor reviewed the photographs again she stated

9

089




2014-12-08 10:37. red rock psychologic 7022223275 >> - P 11717

Metissa Lawrence

1

that the marks were not consistent with the story Samantha gave and Samantha was removed ' 5
from her home. -

Ms. Richardson roported that she is the Permanency Supervisor for Child Protective Services.
She roported that this casc originally came through the CPS hotline in December 2013 and the
removal of Samantha happened in January 2014, The other children were removed from their
home a few weeks later. She raported that after she saw the photographs of Samantha’s injuries
and the history of Mr. Brown’s case of murdering his child. she had Sumantha’s siblings
temoved from the home. She reported that as a Permanency Supervisor and there being no ;
disclosure of medically consistent information with the injuries Involved, the three other children
were lest vulnerable in the home. She also had concerns of impending danger due to a non
protective mother, *-

Ms. Richardson contacted several managers who also agreed that the 3 younger children were in
impending danger if they were not removed from the home and placed into protective custody.

Ms, Richardson reported that there have been a total of 7 priot investigations within the last 5
years. She reported that every time Samantha had significant injurics the storics wero not
consistent with the injuries sustained. She reported that Samantha's storiss were verbatim to the
stories thal her pavents had sald. Ms. Richardson reported thut Samanthe had beon pulled out of
school by Ms. Lawrencc and placed into homeschool due to the school's soncoms and reports
that had been made to CPS. She roported that with these 7 prior allegations made, Samantha had
reccived multiple black eycs, stitches, a brokan tooth, and bruises to her sbdomen. '

Ms. Richardson reported that in 2010 CPS interviewed and did a formal court involved case with
this family and Samantha had been placed into protective custody with 2 no contact order. They
took her 3 younger children and sent them to Ms. Lawrence's mother's house. Thoy filed &
petition with the court and the case made it to trial. Ms. Lawrence got an attorncy and the case
was eventually dropped.

Ms. Richardson reported that Ms. Lawrence has zero empathy for Samantha and has made
horrible statements about her, She reported that there have been phone calls recorded between
Ms. Lawrence and Mr, Brown. They both have made statements that Samantha is a problem and
caused all of these injuries 1o herself,

Ms. Richardson reported that Samantha has been in custody for one year and hasn't injurcd
herself other than one time while being supervised when she fell off of her bicycle. She hus also
had minor injuries whilé playing sports, but no sclf-inflicted injuries as reported by her parents.
She reporicd that Samantha has been an honorable student and hag done tremendously well while
in foster care.

She reported that the first 4 months while Samantha had been In fosier care she lept the same i
story about the injuries she hadlincurced. 1n curly June. CPS was notificd by her therupist that !
Samantha had disclosed in welting alternate info about her abuge. She wrote a very atrony lotter '
10 Mr, Brown stating that he had been beating her since she was 4 yoars old and she was tived of ,
itall, PerMs. Richardson, shice this disclosure she has kept the samo story. |
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‘Acoording to Ms, Riohardson, Ms, Lawrence has no parental bond with Samantha and shows
hatrsd towards her. '

M, Richardson reported that she feels Ms, Lawrence was present all along or may have been the
parent that struck Samantha, She fecls they may all be protecting Ms. Lawrence, Ms. .
Richardson reported that their 5 year old son Wyait, reported that when his “mormy gets drunk
she hits other people.”

)

One of the biggest questions that Ms, Richardson posed to Mr, Brown and Ms. Lawrence was if
they believed she was severely emotionally disturbed, why did neither of them scek weatment for
her. Ms, Richardson reported that Mr, Brown and Ms. Lawrence have been atiending mandated
individual therapy at Healthy Minds since Scptember 2014,

Ms. Richardson reported that Mr, Brown and Ms, Lawrence currently have a no contact order
with their children. No physical contact or phone calls are allowed at this time,

COLLATERAL INTERVIEW OF MARYTE TALLENT, DFS CASEWORKER:

This writer attcmpted a collatoral Interview with her DFS caseworker, Maryte Tallent, by
telephone on November 26, 2014, December 1, 2014, and Decemnber 2, 2014 but was
unsuccessful,

COLLATERAL INFORMATTON OF DONALD BROWN:

Mr. Brown reported to this interviewer that Samantha was late coming home from school and
that she had shown up with Child Protoctive Services. He roported that she had a bruise on the
cornur of hor eye and some marks on her back. At that time she had told a friend that he had
punchced her in the eye per Mr. Brown, Mr, Brown reported that when the bruise occutred on her
eyo. Mr. Brown, his twins Nikki and Heid! all witncssed it. He reportcd. “She was taking the
dishes out of the dishwasher and the cabinet was open.” He reported that when she got up to put
the glasses away she hit the corner of her cye on the cabinet. He reported, 1 looked at it, [t was
just a small mark at the beginning.” He reportcd that she also had matks on her back. He stated.
“To us it Jooked like scratches” He stated that she told CPS that she jumped off of the wall on
to the trampoline, He reported that she told his son David's wife. Alyshia Brown, that she had
dong this to herself. He stated that the day beforc the court hearing she came out with a letter to
him and made all kiuds of allegations about this incident and others. Me repotied that in this
letter she addressed the way he spoke (o her, and that he had hit her with a flashlight and a frying
pan,

He became tearful and stated, “We lost track of what was going on in the house, We were both
working.” He reported, “Ive sald some torrible things to Samantha and | can't belleve 1 swatted
Wyat, and thé other kids and hurt them.” “Thc last thing ) want is to have them scared of me,”
He reported, “Samantha was lying, stealing. and | told heéx i1 she didn’t stop she wowld end up a
crack whore in North Town.” He reported that looking back he couldn't believe he;said this. He
reported, “1 did get out of hand and tried to spank her. She's too old and wouldn't listen to
anything.”
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When agked what Mr. Brown pled in this case, he reported that he pled No Contest. When ggked
if he thinks the allegations are serious, Mr. Brown reported, “Very,”

Mt Brown reported that he has been self employed for the last 4 years doing Mason work,

M. Brown reported that he currcntly lives with his partner, Melissa Lawrence. who has been his
significant other for the last 13 years. He reported that their children are in the custody of CPS
and currently reside in fostor carc, |

Mr, Browh denicd any history of physical, emotional, and sexual abuse in his childhood.

M. Brown reported his first use of alcohol was at the age of 14, He reported drinking 3-4 beers
every other week cuttently. He roported his last usc of alcohol wag on September 28, 2014 for

his son David Brown's 23vd birthday. Mr. Brown reporied that he started smoking marijuaga at
the age of 15 and his last use was in 1989 when he was incarcerated, He denied any current use,
He denied ever participating in drug or alcohol evaluation or trcatment, '

When asked if Mr, Brown hed cver seen a therapist or psychiatriat, Mr, Brown reported he has
been attending mandated therapy at Healthy Minds since Septomber 2014 and his therapist is
David Sanchez. Whon asked if e had ever refused montal health services, Me. Brown doniod
doing so. Mr, Brown donicd ever feeling suicidal or homicidal,

Whoen Mr, Brown was agked how he would feel about taking u Physical Abusc Boundarics Class.
he sisted, “1 already completed this class a few weeks ago at Red Rock Psychological Health.™

When asked if he gets angry easily. he denied doing so. When asked if he had ever been ina
physical fight es an adult, he reported that while he had been incarccrated he had been in a few
physical fights. He reported he was attacked a few times when he was first incarcerated and he
fought back as self-defense. He reported that no one was badly injured.

Mr. Brown reported he was arrested 4 different times. He was arrcsted in 1984 and incarcerated
until 1989 for Voluntary Manslaughtce. He reported that his daughter was 8 months old at the
time. He reported she was acting lethacgic and she had stopped breathing, He did not want to
discuss this case uny further and stated that he was a kid back then. He reported that he accepted
a plca bargain for thiz case. ‘

He was detained while living in Colorado for Disturbance of the Peace. He reported that the
police had come out due to his ex-girifriend Doren Maren shouting at him in front of thelr home.
He reported that he had to go to court and the charges were dropped.

He was arrested again for a Domestic Disturbance with his girlfriend, Doren Maren whilc living
in Colorado, e reported he went 1o jail for 8 hours and was seloascd and nover had to lollow up
with any classcs for this,

He mpohod the last i mo ho was arrested was for his current cuse in Macch 2014 for 21 charges
of ¢hild abuse and neglect. He roported being incarcerated from March 2014 until July 2014,
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When asked if he had ever boen arvested for Domestic Violence he reported he had come home
luo ulier work one night, whila living with his girlfriend, Doren Maren. and she “flipped out.”
He reported that she tipped over the fish tank and left with his son. He reported that shortly
afier. he was picked up for a traffic violation and was arrcsted for Domestic Disturbance, He

reporied be went to jail for 8 hours and was released and never had to follow up with any classes -

for this. Mr. Brown denicd any other history of domestic violence in his romantic relationships
or family of origin.

Mr. Brown reported that he has been in 3 serious relationships, FHe was married to Jerrie Brown
(28). from the ages of 18-22 and they got a divorce when he went to prison. He reported that she
passed away due to heart failure at the age of 60.

He wag married to his 2nd wife, Terigsa Brown (21). from the ages of 28-33. He reported that
she was cheating on him while he was working as a truck driver. He stated that she leR with his
son he never saw her again, He reported that he raised his son David after Terissa Brown left
him.

Fle reported that his current relationship is with Mellssa Lawrence (34). whom he hus been with

. Torar01al of 13 years. When asked about his feelings about his current relationship he reported,

“I\'s excellent.”

When asked about the rules in place for the children in his home, he stated, “Nobody hite
nobody, no stealing, lying, teasing, and no cursing.” He stated that cursing are “daddy’s words.”
He denied cursing at his children, but admitted that ho will slip up und use foul language svery
once in & while. He raportod that his children have a jar I has to put & quarter in ifhe uscs these
worda,

Whon aslod how his partner disciplines their children he reported. “She just sends them to their
room.” When agked how he disciplincs their children he reported. *T usually put them in a time
oul against the same wall where we measure their height.,” He reported that the time outs are no
longer than a few minutes. He reported that Samantha will get sent to her.room. He reported
that sometimes he would yround his children or spank his children on their butt using an open
hand, but denied leaving any marks or bruises. {

When asked if he or his partner had ever spanked the children he reported. “We have preity good
kids and very scldom spank them, We did when they were a lot younger.” He denicd him or his
pariner cver leaving any marks or bruiscs.

When asked if anyone would say he or his partner were strict parents or unfair to their children.
he said. “Over protective paremts probably.” When asked how Ms, Lawrence is as a mother he
reported, *She’s excellent.”” When asked how he communicates with his partner he reporied.
“We talk.” |

RISK ASSESSMENT:

The following tisk agsessment is based upon clinical interview and review of the documentation.
These assessments are made on the assumption that the allegations are truc. due to the No
Contest plea tn order to determing risk factors to the comrmunity.
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Melissa Lawrencs

- North Carolina SDM Family Risk Assessmant of Child Abuse/Neglect

The North Caralina SDM Family Risk Assessment of Child Abuse/Neglect identifies the
probability that a family may continue to abuse or neglect their children, The assessment too) is
based on rescarsh showing a relationship between family characteristics and outcomes of
subscquent abuse and neglect cascs. Since different dynamics exist in abuse and neglect
situations, separate scales arc used to assess abuse or neglect.

She scored a raw score of 8 out of a possible 12 related to physical abusc, which places her
fumily in a HIGH Risk range to re-offend for abuse, The risk leve! was assigned due to:

Current report is for both abuse and neglect

Onc or more prior CPS investigative asscssments

Prior CPS in home/out of home service history

Age of youngest chiid in the home 5 or older

Threc or more children residing at the home at the time of the current report

. Child characteristics: Mental Health and/or behavioral problems

' Either carctaker was a perpotrutor of domestic violcnce prior to the lnst 12
months _

She scored a raw score of 7 out of 16 related to noglect, which places hor family in a HIGH Rixk
rangs for future noglact, Tho risk lovel was assigned due to!

. Current veport is for both neglect and abuse

. Onc or more priar CPS investigative asscssments
Prior CPS in home/out of home scrvice history
Three or morc children residing at the home st the time of the current report
Age of primary carctaker 30 or older (-1 point)

. Either carctaker lacks parenting skills

. Child characteristics: Mental Health and/or behavioral problems

CLINICAL IMPRESSIONS:

Due to the investigation and involvement of the legal system, this type of risk asscssment
asswmes any person participating in this type of evaluation is guilty and therefore unable 1o score
below a “Low Risk” rating,

The following concern was identified during the interview:

Deaial of Allegations:

Both Ms. Lawrence and Mr, Brown deny that Samantha was physically abused. They bolicve all )
her injurics wers at the Fault of herself or another ¢hild, Investigutions have found injurics to be
consistent with abuse.

14

094




' 2014-12-08 10:38 red rock psychologic 7022223275 >> P 16717

Melissa Lawrence

Ms. Lawrence is also in denial that her partner killed his previous child, even though he was
convicted and served a prison senlence.

4 o ]

Ms. Richardson reported that there have becn a total of 7 prior investigations within the last 5
years. She reported that with these 7 prior allogations made, Samantha had received multiple
black eyes. stitches, a broken tooth, and bruises to her abdomen. ;

Inconnistent atinn:
During Mr. Brown’s collateral interview, he admitted to being emotionally abusive to Samantha,

“I've said some terrible things to Samantha,™ He admitted that the children arc afraid of him as
well. Ms. Brown denied to this interviewer that he was emotionally abusive to the children,

Ms. Lawrence refused to disclose the father of Samantha 1o this Interviewer,
Ms. Lawrence's resilisncy factors include:

- Cooperation with her evaluation,
« Employed.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS:

DSM-V TR Diagnostic Impraasion:

Axis I V61.21 Physical Abuse and Neglect of a Child
Axigll: 799.9 Deferred |
Axisll: None

Axig IV: Severc: Legal. Separation from Child

AxisV (current): 635

Based on the information provided for her evaluation, Ms, Lawrencc’s HIIGH risk Tor physicul
abuse/meglect recidivism and the above noted clinical impressions. the following
recommendations are being made.

1. Ms. Lawrence should continue In weekly individual therapy to address her posilion of
denial. |
5. Ms. Lawrencc should creatc a therapeutic safcty plan with tho help of a trauma therapist to
identify triggers, coping skills, and rolapse provention.
3. Ms. Lawrence should continue not to have contact with her childeen until she is
mecting the requirements of her DFS case plan and her tisk of abuse is decreascd, She then
should move to supervised visits.

1§
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Respeetiully Submitted,

Kellcy Mann, CSW intern /@/éy/c N
/%/,0‘26 /Ol

Mclissa Webb, MS. W, L.C S.W.
Clinica!l Dircctor

6402 S. McLcod #3
Las Vegas, NV §9102
702-898-3311
702-222-3275 fax
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; ABC THERAPY
Henderson Office: Phona 702-568-5971
| O o Lo TR o
COMPLETION REPORT
Tuesday, March 31, 2016
CLIENT: Lawrence, Meligsa D .
' COURT: Depariment of Family Services NV
ATTN: Maryte Tallent
CASE NUMBER 1345085
BIRTHDATE:  8/7/1980
SSN: ~ §30-21-0666
INTAKE DATE: 2/10/2015
DISCHARGE:  3/31/2015
PROGRAM: Mental Health
' ' Sessions: 10 Absences: 0
Attended: 10 Makeups: O
Remaining: 0
BALANCE DUE: [$0.00]
STATUS: Complsted: Client has successfully completed the program
A and made all payments.
COMMENTS:  Ms. Lawrence learned undergo gradually to a repeafed

imaginal exposure to the feared negative consequences
predicted by worries of her children wellbeing and deveilop
alternative reality-based predictions.

This client has learned the skills taught anﬁ has demonstrated

emotional growth.

Input By;:NY  *
NORTHLAG VEGAR LAUGHUINBYLLHEAD -
730 N Eaatom Ave. Sulla 130 1748 Hwy 05, Sulle 14
Lag'Vegns, NV 53101 Butfhead, A2, 86442
Phona 702-568-2020 Phone:bB8-458-1600
FAX 702-508-2018 FAX 925-793-3783
Emab: abei@ivoamallcom Emalt abcdeax@elfink ael

Signature: E'—"/"" % ' .
' am Gallego, MS, LCTU0128, Ceriifiad Domestic Violence Cotnselor T ~
MESQUITE

Emalk abc3@ivexmali.eom  Emall: abokax@elifink.net

KINOMAN
312 W, Mearjulte Bivd. Bin 106 2609 Stockion HIBRY. #4
Mactyulle, NV 80024 Kingmen, AZ 86409
«  Phona: 702-346-33¢4 Phone: €28-753.0408
FAX 702-688-2010 FAX 9207581228
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WAL VDD 2399KM ABU Therapy No, 3300 1. /1

ABC THERAPY

Hendersos Office: Phone 702-368-5971 \
7 Water Street, Suiite A, Hendorsan, NV 85015 j
Bumsll: ahed@lveaxmaileom Website: ABC Thorapynet FAX: 702-564-5574

COMPLETION REPORT
. Tussday, March 81, 2015
CLIENT: Brawn, Donald E
COURT: Department of Family Services NV
ATTN: Maryte Tallent
CASE NUMBER 1345085
BIRTHDATE:  3/5/1963
SSN: 540-84-3802
INTAKE DATE: 2/10/2015
'DISCHARGE:  3/31/2015
PROGRAM:  Mental Health

Sesslons: 10 Absences; 0
Attended: 10 Makeups: O

Remaining: 0
BALANCE DUE: [$0.00] .
STATUS: Completed: Client has successfully completed the program

and made all payments,

COMMENTS:  Mr. Brown learned to icentify thallenge, and replace biased,
fearful self-talk with positive, reallstic, and empowering self-
talk. in addition Mr. Brown learned and implemented problem-.

_ solving strategies for realistically addressing worries.

This client has learned the skills taught and has demonstrated
emotional growth, ' . \

. ' Witlam Gallego, MS, L , omestic Violance Counselor

Input By: NY
NORTHLAS VEGAS LAUGHUNBULLHEAD MESQUITE KINGMAY
730 M Esafars Ave. Suite 430 1740 Huy 95, Sue 14 392-W. Masqulls Bivd. Gia 108 2407 Skakton il RY. #4
1as Vegos, NV 89104 Buihoad, AZ 56442 Megquils, NV 88024 “Kingman, AZ 88201
Phons 702-598-2020 Phone:aR8-A5B-1600 Phone: 702-346-33¢4 Phore: 2287590408
FAX 702-598z008 FAX b28.783-3753 FAX 702-608-2016 FAX 528-753-1228

Emalk: shot@bcoxmuiloom Emelt sbeboaz@chlink.nel Emall shd@iveoxmalicom  Emall; syckmeilink.nel
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CLARK COUNTY
EPARTMENT OF FAMILY SERVICES

121 SOUTH MARTIN LUTHER KING BLVD.,

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89106

702) 455-7200

In the Matter of:

SAMANTHA LAWRENCE
Date of Birth: 07-06-1998
A Minar 17 years, 00 Months of Age

I A Minor 11 years, 06 Months of Age

HEIDI BROWN
Date of Birth: 01-04-2004
A Minor 11 years, 06 Months of Age

NIKKI BROWN
Date of Birth: 01-04-2004

WYATT BROWN
Date of Birth: 05-30-2009
A Minor 08 years, 01 Months of Age

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT
FAMILY DIVISION - JUVENILE
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

REPORT FOR PERMANENCY AND PLACEMENT REVIEW

Date of Hearing:

Time of Hearing:
Courtroom:
Attachment:

CLERK OF THE COURT

COURT CASE NO.: J-14-318202-P2
DEPT.: FAMILY JUVENILE

07-22-2015

10:00 AM

HM GIBSON - #20

A. Domestic violence assessment report
for Mr. Brown

B. Domestic Violence report for Mr.
Brown

C. Mental Health report for Mr, Brown

D. Mental Health evaluation results for
Ms. Lawrence

E. Mental Health report for Ms. Lawrence
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